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This study provides a guide to accounting research on private firms with an emphasis on the
European setting. We start by providing an overview of private firm financial reporting
regulation in Europe and indicate how this institutional framework can be used to identify
promising research settings that in part generalise beyond the European setting. Next, we
discuss the availability of private firm accounting data and the underlying data generating
process that involves private firms’ original reports, governmental and private data
aggregators, and commercial data providers. We show how this process generates insightful
data, but at the same time causes complex sample selection issues that researchers should
take into account when assessing prior findings and developing new research projects.
Finally, we identify potential areas of future work by reviewing the extant literature along
the three main motivations for conducting private firm work: (i) to learn more about private
firms per se, (ii) to learn more about what distinguishes private firms from public firms,
and (iii) to obtain insights from private firms that generalise across all firms.

Keywords: Private firms; financial reporting; European reporting environment; orbis;
Amadeus; data quality

1. Introduction

Private firms are a cornerstone of global economic activity. Entrepreneurs usually start small and
most firms stay private over their lifetime, even after growing out of their entrepreneurial stage.
It, therefore, is no surprise that private firms are vital for any jurisdiction and represent a large
proportion of economic activity worldwide. For the European Economic Area (EEA), data
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from Amadeus, a popular research database on European public and private corporations main-
tained by Bureau van Dijk, shows that the overwhelming majority (99.87%) of firms are private.
Moreover, these private firms represent 42.8% of aggregated corporate assets and 61.8% of the
total workforce in Europe.1

Given the importance of private firms, there is a strongly growing interest in research on
private firms in general and on private firm accounting in particular. Besides a multitude of ques-
tions with respect to the peculiarities of private firms and their comparability to public peers,
studying private firms can also yield answers to questions of general interest given their distinc-
tive characteristics regarding agency issues, business context, and regulatory settings. In this
paper, we discuss the financial reporting environment for European private firms, review the
extant literature, and outline research perspectives. We believe this to be insightful for a wide
range of scholars, but we especially designed this overview to serve as a point of reference
for PhD students and academics that are new to the private firm accounting literature.

While, in principle, private firms are a relevant study subject worldwide, we put particular
emphasis on the European setting. The reason for this is primarily data availability. While in
most countries no disclosure requirements for private firms exist, a large proportion of European
firms is required to publicly disclose their financial statements, enabling researchers to study their
reporting behaviour. We are convinced that this does not only apply to researchers that are inter-
ested in the European setting per se, but is also beneficial for everyone interested in more general
accounting question as European private firms present a highly attractive ‘laboratory’ for study-
ing the determinants and consequences of accounting and transparency.

We start by giving a concise overview of the heterogenous financial reporting requirements
for European private firms and describe the different EU Member States’ applications of local
GAAP versus International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Understanding the
peculiarities of this framework is essential for conducting informative research on private
firms for two reasons: First, it determines the availability and nature of private firm accounting
data across firms, time, and countries. Second, its heterogeneity across jurisdictions and time pre-
sents fruitful settings for various research questions.

Next, we describe available data sources for private firm accounting data. We discuss the role
of official data repositories and private information intermediaries such as credit bureaus.
Additionally, we focus on commercial data vendors and highlight important data peculiarities
in popular commercial data sources that are partly driven by the data generating process and
partly by data aggregation and presentation choices. Understanding these issues helps developing
apt research designs with private firm accounting data. We close this first part of the paper by
highlighting research questions specifically related to data availability and the selection issues
caused by the data generating process.

The second part of the paper presents a structured review of the extant global private firm
accounting literature and identifies potential topics for future research regarding private firm
accounting in Europe and beyond. We organise this discussion along what we identify as the
three main motivations for conducting private firm accounting research: (i) understanding
private firms per se, (ii) understanding how private firms differ from public firms, and (iii)
using private firms as a setting to obtain insights that generalise across private and public
firms. At the end of each of these sections, we outline specific research perspectives.

1For details on the database and data retrieval, please refer to Table 1. The European case is not an excep-
tion. According to statistics of the U.S. Small Business Administration (2018), 99.9 % of all firms in the
United States qualify as small business entities with less than 500 employees, which are likely to be
private, and all together together employ nearly 50% of the total U.S. workforce.
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Table 1. Private firms in the European Union by size.

Number of Firms (2018) by Size Proportion with Sales Information

Country Big Medium Small Total % Small Big Medium Small Total

Austria 479 2342 30,005 32,826 91.41% 52.82% 24.64% 12.70% 14.14%
Belgium 701 2321 31,683 34,705 91.29% 84.31% 40.50% 10.19% 13.72%
Bulgaria 106 754 57,101 57,961 98.52% 98.11% 99.47% 97.68% 97.70%
Croatia 48 180 9535 9763 97.66% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Cyprus 18 50 127 195 65.13% 94.44% 96.00% 88.98% 91.28%
Czech Republic 158 1106 41,576 42,840 97.05% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Denmark 365 1420 33,061 34,846 94.88% 57.81% 12.25% 13.53% 13.94%
Estonia 54 317 20,569 20,940 98.23% 96.30% 97.48% 95.39% 95.43%
Finland 327 1117 34,823 36,267 96.02% 98.78% 97.31% 87.41% 87.82%
France 1529 5914 81,408 88,851 91.62% 98.69% 85.64% 74.97% 76.09%
Germany 3081 13,329 88,222 104,632 84.32% 61.41% 22.61% 28.91% 29.06%
Greece 357 1258 2463 4078 60.40% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Hungary 100 342 35,491 35,933 98.77% 97.00% 96.49% 73.40% 73.68%
Iceland 54 230 8123 8407 96.62% 98.15% 96.96% 95.56% 95.61%
Ireland 287 1206 36,307 37,800 96.05% 82.23% 38.14% 4.19% 5.87%
Italy 4428 23,301 304,342 332,071 91.65% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Latvia 33 232 17,564 17,829 98.51% 93.94% 95.69% 77.94% 78.20%
Lithuania 48 256 2023 2327 86.94% 100.00% 99.22% 98.27% 98.41%
Luxembourg 125 359 5397 5881 91.77% 52.00% 30.36% 20.72% 21.97%
Malta 19 77 496 592 83.78% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Netherlands 388 772 25,760 26,920 95.69% 53.09% 6.61% 0.16% 1.11%
Norway 1062 2655 65,095 68,812 94.60% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Poland 575 2551 64,562 67,688 95.38% 96.70% 96.32% 75.89% 76.83%
Portugal 380 2673 132,717 135,770 97.75% 98.42% 97.72% 88.70% 88.90%
Romania 216 1444 148,609 150,269 98.90% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Slovakia 108 563 37,539 38,210 98.24% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Slovenia 68 450 12,934 13,452 96.15% 98.53% 98.00% 86.58% 87.02%
Spain 2330 10,096 80,279 92,705 86.60% 95.88% 96.04% 90.50% 91.24%
Sweden 256 635 19,541 20,432 95.64% 95.70% 94.33% 83.71% 84.19%
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Table 1. Continued.

Number of Firms (2018) by Size Proportion with Sales Information

Country Big Medium Small Total % Small Big Medium Small Total

Switzerland 84 33 8 125 6.40% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
United Kingdom 3373 13,352 781,803 798,528 97.91% 83.40% 39.95% 3.63% 4.58%

Total 21,157 91,335 2,209,163 2,321,655 95.15% 87.24% 71.57% 52.56% 53.63%

Notes: The table shows the number of private firms of the European Economic Area as reported in Bureau van Dijk’s database Amadeus accessed through the Wharton Research Data
Service (WRDS) for the year 2018. The data represents the universe of independent private firms (independence indicator A+, A, A–, B+, B, B–, or ‘–’, i.e. no subsidiaries of business
groups). We keep only firm-years with 12 months and with reporting practice being equal to ‘consolidated data’ or ‘unconsolidated data’. If both consolidated and unconsolidated data is
available, consolidated data is used. We only consider firms with non-missing and non-negative total assets, and only include non-financial firms (Item ussic_core_code > 900 and
ussic_core_code > 599 & ussic_core_code < 680 deleted). Liechtenstein is not included in the Table as no firm fulfils the selection criteria. ‘Small’ firms do not exceed the limit
of EUR 8 million total assets and ‘Medium’ firms do not exceed the limit of EUR 20 million total assets. If a firm exceeds these limits, it is classified as a ‘Large’ firm.
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In addition, we provide the opportunity to dive deeper into the literature by using an online
extension of this guide that contains detailed bibliographic and topical information on all 121
references that underly our structured review (https://trr266.de/pfirmacclit). Using this web
page, readers can interactively perform bibliographical analyses and explore the common
themes and links that define the body of private firm accounting literature catered to their own
preferences or research focus.

Not surprisingly, various aspects of the literature on private firm accounting have been
reviewed before. Bar-Yosef et al. (2019) provide a topical overview of the private firm account-
ing literature by classifying and summarising the main contributions from 95 research papers. A
similar task has been taken on by Habib et al. (2018), who surveyed 34 studies starting from
1999. Vanstraelen and Schelleman (2017) consolidate the literature on the potential costs and
benefits of auditing private firms’ accounts. Minnis and Shroff (2017) provide theoretical argu-
ments on why private firm public financial reporting and audit regulation may both be warranted
and corroborate these views with survey results from standard setters and corporate representa-
tives. Further, Hope and Vyas (2017) discuss how private firms’ debt, equity, and trade credit
decision relate to their financial reporting practices.

Our study complements these related studies by providing a holistic introduction to private
firm accounting research along three dimensions: (1) We present the European institutional
private firm financial reporting framework that researchers have to familiarise themselves
with, (2) we extensively discuss the European data environment, and (3) we systematically
explore the existing literature, reviewing not only studies about private firms but also studies
using private firms that tackle broader research questions. We believe that, taken together, knowl-
edge along these three dimensions is essential and will enable researchers to contribute further to
the rich and growing field of private firm accounting research.

2. Private firm financial reporting in Europe: institutions and data

In this section, we review data availability and the institutional environment underlying the data
generating process for European private firm accounting data. Europe has a long-standing tra-
dition of financial reporting obliging both public and private firms to periodically disclose
their financial statements. This feature makes Europe a convenient setting for private firm
studies, as is also reflected in the geographical representation of countries in the literature
review (69 of the 121 studies use European data). Europe, however, not just provides a con-
venient, but also a factually attractive setting to study private firm accounting for a number of
reasons. First, while all countries of the European Economic Area (EEA) are classified by the
World Bank as high-income countries (except for Bulgaria), the GDP per capita of EEA
countries shows wide variation from the 58th to the top percentile of countries worldwide. There-
fore, European evidence can be regarded as being informative for developed economies in
general. Second, financial reporting rules in the EEA faced various changes and updates over
the past decades, often generating cross-country regulatory differences that are helpful to identify
causal effects of disclosure regulation. Third, the European setting, while mandating financial
disclosure for many private firms, also generally exempts especially small limited and most
unlimited liability private firms from mandatory disclosure, allowing researchers to study incen-
tives and effects of voluntary disclosure by benchmarking firms under a voluntary disclosure
regime with firms that are subject to mandatory disclosure in the same jurisdiction.

On the other hand, there are also potential limitations to the European setting, mostly regard-
ing economies that are not comparable to Europe. First, we can learn little from European private
firms about the role of private firm accounting in developing economies. Second, since political
regimes in Europe are democratic and relatively stable, current-day European insights might not
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generalise to countries with different political regimes. This point, however, could partly be
addressed by studying historical European settings like the transformation process of socialist
to market-oriented regimes. Third, as prior work has documented that the role of private firm
accounting likely varies with the prominence of public equity markets (Minnis and Shroff
2017, Gassen 2017) and given that these markets are rather average-sized in most European
countries, only some countries (e.g. the U.K. and Switzerland) can be regarded as being fully
representative of the role of private firm accounting in equity-market dominated economies.
On the other end of the spectrum, there is not much that we can learn from European data
about countries with underdeveloped or non-existent capital markets.

Taken the pros and cons together, we believe that the institutional richness and data avail-
ability for private firms across Europe provides researchers with a powerful combination to
identify determinants and consequences of accounting and reporting transparency. To take full
advantage of this setting, researchers need to embrace this institutional richness and familiarise
themselves with the peculiarities of the data environment. We, therefore, start in Section 2.1 by
giving an overview of reporting requirements for European private firms and especially focus on
cross-country variation in the use of local GAAP versus IFRS. Next, we discuss available data
sources for private firm accounting data in Section 2.2, and highlight specific data features that
are influential for the choice of research designs.

2.1. The European regulatory reporting environment

2.1.1. Reporting requirements

In Europe, most limited liability firms, independent of their listing status, are required to prepare
and publish financial statements. The 4th Company Law Directive (78/660/EEC) introduced the
requirement to prepare unconsolidated (individual) financial statements in 1978, and the 7th
Company Law Directive (83/349/EEC) introduced the requirement to prepare consolidated
financial statements for companies (parent) that control another entity (subsidiary) in 1983.2

Since the initial publication of the directives, which had to be transformed into national law
by the EU Member States, various amendments had been made, and Directive 2013/34/EU ulti-
mately repealed Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC. This latest directive, which Member
States had to incorporate into national law by 20 July 2015, aims at increasing the comparability
across the European Union and at easing the reporting burden for very small ‘micro entities’.
Other than the ‘micro’ category, the directives require different levels of disclosure for
‘small’, ‘medium’, and ‘large’ firms.3 Member States are allowed regulatory discretion, for
example, to permit medium-size firms to file abridged financial statements and small companies
even to omit the filing of income statements altogether. These national discretions have led to
variation in disclosure requirements across Member States. Germany, for example, allows

2While the above-mentioned directives apply to all limited liability firms, specific rules apply to public
firms listed on EU regulated markets. For example, the Transparency Directive (2004/109/EC) requires
firms listed on EU regulated markets to publish yearly and half-yearly reports and major changes in
voting rights.
3According to the directive’s definition, a firm falls into the ‘micro’ category if it does not exceed the limits
of at least two of the following criteria: (1) EUR 350,000 of total assets, (2) EUR 700,000 of net turnover,
and (3) 10 employees (average per year). Small’ firms must not exceed the limits of at least two of the fol-
lowing criteria: (1) EUR 4,000,000 total assets; (2) EUR 8,000,000 net turnover, and (3) 50 average
employees. ‘Medium’ firms must not exceed the limits of at least two of the following criteria: (1) EUR
20,000,000 total assets; (2) EUR 40,000,000 net turnover; and (3) 250 average employees. If a firm
exceeds these limits, it qualifies as a ‘Large’ firm.

6 C. Beuselinck et al.



small firms to omit income statements (§326 of the German Commercial Code), while Italy
requires small firms to file income statements and only allows few exceptions for small and
micro firms (Art. 2435 bis. Italian Civil Code).4

To get a better understanding of the extent of differences across jurisdictions, we use the
availability of income statements for ‘small’ or ‘micro’ entities as an example. In jurisdictions
where such firms are allowed to omit the income statement, we should observe only a small frac-
tion of them to report sales information voluntarily, whereas in jurisdictions that require income
statements for small firms, we expect sales information to be universally available. In Table 1, we
use Bureau van Dijks’ Amadeus database to report the percentage of firms that provide sales
information separately for the different size categories (based on total assets).5 We observe sub-
stantial variation across countries. Whereas in some countries virtually all small firms report
sales (Croatia, Czech Republic, Greece, Italy, Malta, Norway, Romania, Slovakia, and Switzer-
land), the ratio of small firms reporting sales is below 6% in Ireland, the Netherlands, and the UK.
These stark differences point at the significant heterogeneity of disclosure requirements in the
EU.6 The resulting variation in available line items is relevant for all studies requiring income
statement data in cross-country settings as it implies varying sample coverage across countries.
Examples for topics that require the use of income statement data include the cost-asymmetry
literature, studies assessing the profitability of private firms, or studies that use unconsolidated
data to determinant the amount of tax-motivated profit shifting.

Compared to limited liability firms, unlimited liability firms generally do not have to make
their financial statements publicly available based on EU regulations. However, it is noteworthy
that the EU limited liability regulations also apply to unlimited liability firms when all share-
holders are limited liability entities themselves (e.g. Société en Nom Collectif in France, Par.
264a German Commercial Code). In addition, some EU countries have regulations in place
that require unlimited liability firms to publicly disclose financial statement data when these
are above a specific size threshold. Examples include Belgium (for general partnerships, ordinary
limited partnerships, or co-operative companies with unlimited liability) and Germany (regard-
ing the provisions in the Publizitätsgesetz (PublG)). Other countries do not apply specific size
criteria but may still require unlimited liability companies to report financial statements in the
case of multiple shareholders (e.g. Sociedad Comanditaria par Acionas in Spain).

2.1.2. IFRS vs. local GAAP

While public firms in Europe have to apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) if
listed on an EU-regulated market (Regulation EC/1606/2002),7 EU Member States mostly

4Directive 2013/34/EU requires a statutory audit for all limited liability firms classified as ‘medium’ or
‘large’, with Member States having the option to reduce reporting thresholds to include smaller firms as
well (Accountancy Europe 2020). For ‘public interest entities’ (companies listed on EU regulated
markets, banks and insurance firms, and other designated entities as defined by Member States), which
are subject to statutory audits independent of their size, Directive 2014/56/EU introduced additional
requirements such as mandatory auditor rotation and a ban of certain non-audit services.
5The other two factors used to categorize firms into size buckets (sales and number of employees) are reg-
ularly not observable for small firms, and we thus cannot classify firms into size categories based on these
dimensions. Micro firms are included within the ‘small’ category in the table.
6Ideally, one would not need to rely on reporting evidence to reach this conclusion, but rather be able to call
on a systematic, exact, and up-to-date overview of the varying disclosure requirements in the EU. Unfortu-
nately, we are not aware of such a resource.
7In contrast, firms listed on open markets (i.e., markets targeting the needs of SMEs to facilitate raising
capital with relaxed listing requirements) are often allowed to choose between local GAAP and IFRS
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require private firms to report under domestic Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP). Country-specific rules to require, permit, or prohibit the use of IFRS differ for conso-
lidated statements and unconsolidated statements.8

The majority of countries allow, but do not require private firms to adopt IFRS voluntarily for
their consolidated financial statements (Cyprus is the only country that requires private firms to
adopt IFRS for consolidated statements). However, some Member States require specific private
firms to adopt IFRS, such as large companies in Malta or large subsidiaries of publicly listed
companies in Croatia, Spain, and Greece. Voluntary adoption of IFRS is overall relatively
low. For instance, Bassemir (2018) documents that less than 10% of German firms voluntarily
adopt IFRS for their consolidated statements.

For unconsolidated financial statements – also referred to as individual, single, or statutory
accounts – the use of IFRS is more restricted. For example, Austria, Belgium, France, Germany,
Romania, Spain, and Sweden require private firms to use local GAAP for unconsolidated finan-
cial statements, often due to a strong link between financial accounting and tax accounting or
because of dividend payout rules. Other countries, including Denmark, Estonia, Ireland, Italy,
the Netherlands, Norway Slovenia, and the UK, do permit the use of IFRS also for unconsoli-
dated accounts. Again, only Cyprus requires IFRS for unconsolidated accounts, and Malta,
Croatia, and Greece require IFRS for larger firms or significant subsidiaries of listed groups.

The introduction of IFRS for public firms motivated national standard setters to adapt local
GAAP systems. For example, in 2009 Germany passed the Accounting Law Modernization Act
(Bilanzrechtsmodernisierunggesetz), which introduced several elements of IFRS into German
GAAP (Fülbier et al. 2017). Nonetheless, local GAAP in Germany as well as in several other
countries (such as Belgium, France, and Italy) still differs substantially from IFRS. The reason
for this is that the local GAAP systems in these jurisdictions are still predominantly guided by
specific considerations such as taxation or creditor protection. In contrast, local GAAP systems
in other EU countries, including Croatia, Denmark, Finland, Greece, Malta, Poland, Portugal,
and Slovenia are generally more aligned with IFRS and local legislators explicitly refer to IFRS
standards. We are, however, not aware of any comprehensive survey allowing the in-depth com-
parison of current national GAAP systems. Such a granular overview would be particularly
helpful in facilitating the analysis of alternative GAAP systems and their economic consequences.9

2.2. Data availability

2.2.1. Local business registers

Data availability is crucial for accounting research and is predetermined by the national disclos-
ure regulation that, as discussed in the previous section, varies across time, jurisdictions, and firm
characteristics. One possibility to obtain private firm financial reporting data is to directly access
the national business registers. This is a direct outcome of EU Directive 2009/101/EC, which
requires all Member States to disclose company information including financial statements in
line with the 4th and 7th Company Law Directive (Directive 2009/101/EC, Article 2 (f)). For

(examples include Alternext (Euronext Growth) at Euronext or Scale at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange).
Interestingly, firms exposed to this choice most often do not report in accordance to IFRS. Pierk (2018),
for instance, shows that less than 20% of IPO firms voluntarily adopt IFRS on these markets.
8The following information is largely based on André (2017) and the 2017 special issue of Accounting in
Europe ‘The Role and Current Status of IFRS in the Completion of European National Accounting Rules’.
9A detailed overview of national accounting systems used to be prominently provided by the TransAcc
project (Ordelheide 2000), which has however been suspended in the post-IFRS era.

8 C. Beuselinck et al.



this purpose, each Member State has to establish a central register where all limited liability com-
panies have to disclose their information electronically (including an option to file scanned
copies). Documents filed before 31 December 2006, however, are not required to be included
in the registers (Article 3 (3)). The Directive prescribes that the access to these files should be
at a minimum cost, i.e. should not exceed the administrative costs to obtain a copy. We summar-
ise all company registers of the EU Member States in the Online Appendix.10

The obvious disadvantage of obtaining data directly from the business register is that it
requires laborious hand-collection of data. However, directly accessing the national business reg-
isters provides unique opportunities for in-depth research. First, the national business registers
are useful for double-checking data that is provided in commercial databases (e.g. when it is
not clear whether a database reports modified or as-is accounting data). Second, researchers
can get access to the notes to the accounts, which are regularly not included in commercial data-
bases. Pierk and Weil (2016), for example, hand-collected data from the German business reg-
ister to identify which private firms adopted a major German GAAP reform early. Similarly,
Kaya and Pronobis (2016) hand-collect data on XBRL adoption status from the homepage of
the Central Balance Sheet Office of the National Bank of Belgium.

2.2.2. Commercial data providers

Amore common way to gather private firm data in accounting research is to use commercial data
providers. An important source of firm-level data on private firms is Bureau van Dijk, which
offers several databases on public and private firms at the country, world region, and global
level. The Orbis database covers countries worldwide (Cascino and Gassen 2015, Haga et al.
2018, Downes et al. 2018, Beuselinck et al. 2019), while the Amadeus database covers European
countries only.11 Especially Amadeus is widely used in the accounting literature (e.g. Bernard
2016, Bernard et al. 2018, Burgstahler et al. 2006, Peek et al. 2010, Minnis and Shroff 2017).

Interestingly, although some researchers use the worldwide Orbis database, they often also
limit the sample to European firms or even just one single country.12 For example, Haga et al.
(2018) only include UK firms in their sample, and Downes et al. (2018) focus on European
firms. It appears that the Orbis and Amadeus databases are often used interchangeably and the
choice of the researchers is most likely driven by institutional data availability. It is, however,
important to note that although the data is provided by the same data provider, the database com-
position differs. This data coverage gap between both databases is illustrated in Figure 1 and
depicts the time-series of coverage for the entire universe of unconsolidated financial statements
accessed through the Wharton Research Data Service (WRDS) for the period 2001–2017.

Figure 1 shows that data coverage in the European Economic Area is generally higher in the
Orbis database compared to the Amadeus database. To a large extent, this difference is driven by
non-active firms. While the Orbis database includes these firms, they are often not included in the
Amadeus database. Depending on the research question, this different treatment of survivorship

10For each country represented in the Online Appendix, we provide the name of the register, the ministry in
charge, the web address to access the register, guidance on how the information can be accessed, infor-
mation on which legal forms are subject to Directive 2009/101/EC locally, and if we were able to find finan-
cial statement information as provided in the Amadeus database without registration and free of charge
(accessibility). The information in the Online Appendix is primarily based on information provided by
the European E-Justice Portal (https://e-justice.europa.eu/home.do).
11Amadeus and Orbis provide only the last 10 years of data for each firm.
12Kalemli-Ozcan et al. (2015) provide further instructions on how to download and organise data from the
Orbis database.
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can potentially bias the results. We, therefore, encourage researchers to be aware of and to
discuss the consequences of database choice.

For single country studies, a country-specific database may be better suited. Bureau van Dijk
offers such country-specific databases as well, such as Bel-first for Belgium and Luxembourg (e.g.
Andries et al. 2017, Beuselinck et al. 2008, 2009, De Meyere et al. 2018, Gaeremynck et al. 2008);
Fame for the U.K. and Ireland (e.g. Ball and Shivakumar 2005, 2008, Dedman and Lennox 2009,
Dedman and Kausar 2012, Dedman et al. 2014, Peel 2018); or Dafne for Germany (e.g. Bigus and
Hillebrand 2017, Bigus and Häfele 2018).13 The benefit of using country-specific datasets is that
they provide more detailed information including country-level GAAP characteristics which are
not available in cross-country databases (see Section 2.2.3 on Data Aggregation).

The commercial databases usually obtain data from local data providers, which themselves
often directly collect the data from the local business registers. Table 2 displays the country-

Figure 1. Comparison in data coverage – Orbis versus Amadeus. Note: This figure shows the number of
firms of the European Economic Area as reported in the Amadeus database (dashed line) and the Orbis data-
base (solid line) between 2001 and 2017 (Download: 3 September 2020). The data represents the universe
of unconsolidated financial statements accessed through the Wharton Research Data Service (WRDS). In
the Orbis database, we require the consolidation code (conscode) to be ‘U1’ or ‘U2’ and in the Amadeus
database, we require the reporting basis (repbas) to be ‘Unconsolidated Data’. We only consider firms with
non-missing and non-negative total assets.

13The complete set of country-level databases offered by Bureau Van Dijk at the time of writing is more
extensive and include: Aida (Italy), Astree (France, company profiles), Aurelia (Austria), Bel-first
(Belgium and Luxembourg), Dafne (Germany), Diane (France), Fame (UK), Markus (Germany, Austria,
Luxembourg company profiles), Mint (Australia), Mint Research (UK), Odin (Nordic and Balcan
countries), Reach (Netherlands), Ruslana (Russia, Ukraine, Kazakhstan), Sabi (Spain and Portugal),
Sabina (Austria, second database). See https://www.bvdinfo.com/en-us/our-products/data/national for a
recently updated list.

10 C. Beuselinck et al.
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Table 2. Yearly average of new firms – Amadeus and World Bank.

Amadeus: Main Data Source
New
Firms World Bank: Data Source

New
Firms Percent

Country (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

Austria Creditreform Austria 10,041 Wirtschaftskammer (WKO) 3635 276.20%
Belgium National Bank of Belgium 20,649 Direction Générale Statistique – Statistics Belgium* 23,077 89.48%
Bulgaria Creditreform Bulgaria 33,640 Registry Agency of Bulgaria 46,261 72.72%
Croatia Creditreform Croatia 8171 Croatia Bureau of Statistics, Ministry of Justice 13,095 62.40%
Cyprus Infocredit Group 2497 Department of Registrar of Companies and Official

Receiver
13,305 18.76%

Czech Republic Bisnode 20,618 Czech Statistical Office 26,235 78.59%
Denmark Experian 18,165 Danish Business Authority 28,199 64.42%
Estonia Creditinfo Eesti 12,790 Ministry of Justice 15,946 80.21%
Finland Suomen Asiakastieto 11,844 Finnish Patent and Registration Office 13,096 90.43%
France Ellisphere 91,026 National Institute of Statistics and Economic Studies 177,704 51.22%
Germany Creditreform Germany 63,234 Federal Statistical Office 70,009 90.32%
Greece ICAP 493 General Secretariat of Government 5915 8.33%
Hungary Ceginformacio.hu Kft. 20,998 Hungarian Central Statistical Office 25,058 83.80%
Iceland Creditinfo Lanstraust hf. 1962 Internal Revenue, Main Office Reykjavík 2252 87.13%
Ireland Vistra 13,775 Register of Enterprises of the Internal Service 18,761 73.42%
Italy Cerved 68,159 Unioncamere 96,848 70.38%
Latvia Creditreform Latvia 8941 The Register of Enterprises of the Republic of Latvia 12,453 71.80%
Liechtenstein Worldbox 268 Office of Economic Affairs 62 430.05%
Lithuania Creditreform Lietuva 5943 State Enterprise Centre of Registers 7,529 78.93%
Luxembourg Creditreform Luxembourg 6574 Luxembourg Business Registers 6376 103.09%
Malta Creditinfo Malta 2158 Malta Business Registry 4242 50.88%
Netherlands Lexis Nexis 42,937 Chamber of Commerce 64,869 66.19%
Norway Experian 22,365 The Bronnoysund Register Center 27,467 81.43%
Poland InfoCredit 33,091 Ministry of Economic Development 34,904 94.81%
Portugal Informa 26,059 Instituto dos Registos e do Notariado 34,314 75.94%
Romania Chamber of Commerce & Industry of

Romania
56,145 Ministry of Justice 72,739 77.19%

Slovakia Bisnode 15,540 Ministry of Economy 17,397 89.33%
Slovenia Coface 4038 Public Legal Records and Related Services** 5304 76.13%
Spain Informa 42,672 Instituto Nacional de Estadistica (INE) 93,702 45.54%

(Continued )
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Table 2. Continued.

Amadeus: Main Data Source
New
Firms World Bank: Data Source

New
Firms Percent

Country (1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

Sweden UC AB 38,112 Swedish Companies Registration Office (SCRO) 44,274 86.08%
Switzerland CRIF Teledata AG 22,480 Swiss Federal Commercial Registry 24,729 90.91%
United Kingdom Vistra 308,158 Companies House 596,207 51.69%

Notes: The table provides summary information on the coverage of private firms in Bureau van Dijk’s database Amadeus. In column (3), New Firms is the average number of newly
registered firms as reported in Amadeus accessed through the Wharton Research Data Service (WRDS) interface between 2012 and 2018 (2019 World Bank Data is not available). We
use the year of incorporation (dateinc_year) to identify when a firm registered, do not include consolidated statements, and only include limited liability firms (if ‘type’ includes the
strings ‘Limited’ or ‘limited’ but not ‘Unlimited’ or ‘unlimited’). In column (5), New Firms is the average number of newly businesses registered (limited liability corporations) as
registered by the World Bank’s Entrepreneurship Survey and database (Indicator Code IC.BUS.NREG) between 2011 and 2018. In column (6), Percent indicates the coverage of New
Firms in Amadeus relative to the World Bank.
*Full Source Name: Direction Générale Statistique – Statistics Belgium, Service Public Fédéral Economie Direction Generale Statistique et Information Economique.
**Full Source Name: Agency of the Republic of Slovenia for Public Legal Records and Related Services (AJPES).
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specific data sources for Bureau van Dijk’s Amadeus database (as reported for 2018). These data
providers fall into roughly two categories: Official agencies like central banks or statistical
bureaus, and credit agencies. It seems likely that the data collection methods vary between
these two groups. While the former collect data based on legal criteria such as corporate struc-
tures or size thresholds, the latter cover firm information for which there is demand from suppli-
ers and credit providers. Consequently, a comparison of firm coverage in Amadeus with that of
the World Bank’s Entrepreneurship Survey (columns (3) and (5) of Table 2), which relies exclu-
sively on administrative data, reveals that Amadeus regularly covers less than 75% (and some-
times less than 50%) of firms in a given country. Understanding the nature of the different data
suppliers and their variation across countries is therefore relevant for the correct interpretation of
the data. These differences also might provide further motivation for researchers to source data
directly from the local data providers to yield access to additional details that would not be avail-
able otherwise.

2.2.3. Important data features

2.2.3.1. Parent companies, subsidiaries, and stand-alone firms. Researchers need to clearly
define the set of firms and financial statements that should be used to answer their research ques-
tion. European data covers different sets of financial statements. Business groups usually consist
of the (ultimate) parent company and the respective subsidiaries. For the parent company, the
consolidated financial statements (group accounts) and unconsolidated financial statements are
available. For subsidiaries, usually only unconsolidated statements are available, as subsidiaries
that are themselves a business group are exempt from publishing consolidated financial state-
ments (unless in the rare case that the subsidiary is publicly listed). Stand-alone firms only
provide unconsolidated statements.

Prior literature on private firms often uses ‘independent’ firms only, which means the sample
only includes consolidated statements of business groups and unconsolidated statements of
stand-alone firms (e.g. Burgstahler et al. 2006). Thus, subsidiaries are not included. However,
even the choice to include business groups and stand-alone firms simultaneously might affect
the results of a paper (Bonacchi et al. 2019). In contrast to using ‘independent’ firms only,
there might also be reasons for only including unconsolidated data of subsidiaries and/or
stand-alone firms. For instance, Beuselinck et al. (2019) use unconsolidated data of subsidiaries
to study earnings management behaviour within multinational firms. Unconsolidated data is also
often used in the area of taxation, as it is commonly the starting point to determine the tax liab-
ility. De Simone (2016), for example, uses unconsolidated financial statements only to study the
effect of IFRS adoption on tax-motivated profit shifting. Similarly, Markle (2016) uses unconso-
lidated data to study tax avoidance incentives based on the home country tax system of multina-
tional firms.

Related to the question of firm independence, it is important to note that the public filing
requirement in Europe also affects legal structures that do not clearly match our economic under-
standing of a ‘firm’. For example, interim holdings, legal shells, or dormant firms without
business activities might be included. Further, business groups may have tax minimising objec-
tives so that subsidiary entity financial statements merely reflect tax incentives. Further, it is com-
monplace for individuals to reorganise private assets into limited liability structures for tax
reasons. All these legal structures might show up as data points in company registers and com-
mercial databases and the frequency of how often they do is likely to vary over jurisdictions and
time. Given their effect on the distributional properties of key accounting measures like earnings,
they will affect many research designs that use private firm data, in particular when inference is
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based on distributional properties such as for studies investigating conservatism or small loss
avoidance.

2.2.3.2. Data aggregation. Research papers regularly use international databases such as Orbis
or Amadeus even when the research design addresses a country-specific research question. The
obvious advantage of using these databases is that data entries are standardised and easily acces-
sible. The disadvantage, however, is that the standardisation comes at the cost of losing infor-
mation. As an illustration, in the Appendix, we compare the 2018 consolidated financial
statements of Volkswagen AG as published in the German Federal Gazette with data provided
by Bureau van Dijk’s databases Orbis (worldwide data), Amadeus (European data), and Dafne
(German specific data). The financial statements filed with the official German register show
23 asset line items, 26 equity and liability line items, and 20 line items in the profit and loss state-
ment. Due to the classification procedures of Bureau van Dijk, however, Amadeus and Orbis
aggregate this data and only provide 10 different asset line items, 12 equity and liability line
items, and 14 line items in the profit and loss statement.14

The relevant country-specific database Dafne, however, provides much more detailed data. In
total, the database provides 28 asset line items, 20 equity and liability line items, and 17 profit
and loss line items. In addition, the Dafne database also provides more detailed information
for some line items, e.g. maturity information for loans and liabilities. This data can potentially
be used to address research questions that cannot be answered with standardised cross-country
data.

In addition, the Appendix reveals that the aggregation rules differ between Amadeus and
Orbis, an issue that to the best of our knowledge has not been acknowledged nor addressed
by prior research. As data aggregation garbles information, the varying amounts of aggregation
across databases can affect findings related to the information content of private firm accounting.
In particular research designs that rely on the number of reported line items to assess the quality
of the provided information (Chen et al. 2015) can be expected to be substantially affected by
database choice.

2.2.3.3. Time-invariant data items. A relevant problem specifically for researchers that want to
use private firm data from Bureau van Dijk’s databases is that for certain items only data from the
most recent update is available, i.e. certain information is time-invariant in the database, but
might change over time in reality. This is especially the case for listing status, ownership data,
and auditor information. Depending on the research question, researchers must be aware of these
static data points as this may be an obstacle to their research designs. One way to overcome these
data limitations is to acquire Bureau van Dijk’s historical data snapshots to construct time-series
data. Alternatively, researchers can use the recently constructed flat-file data feeds provided by
Bureau van Dijk that contain the full history of Bureau van Dijk financial data. Where access to
neither the historical snapshots nor the relatively expensive Orbis data-feed is available, a com-
monly used alternative is to limit the sample to the subset of recent years as a robustness test with
a low likelihood of significant data changes over time (e.g. Markle and Shackelford 2012, Minnis
and Shroff 2017).

14Note that both databases also provide other information (e.g. number of employees, depreciation
expenses). The mentioned items are only those that directly correspond to the balance sheet and profit
and loss statements of Volkswagen.

14 C. Beuselinck et al.



2.2.3.4. Data coverage. Sufficient data coverage is an essential prerequisite for inferences
that are generalisable to the broader population of private firms. To illustrate if and how data cov-
erage changes over time, Table 3 displays the number of independent European private firms
covered in the Amadeus database between 2012 and 2019.15 We only include independent
firms (i.e. firms that are not controlled by any other higher-level shareholder), because this is
a common selection made in the literature. In 2019, most European observations are from the
UK (around 36%) and Italy (around 15%). The overall number of firms as reported by

Table 3. Private firms in the European Union as reported in Amadeus.

Country 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Austria 22,590 24,558 26,913 29,285 31,697 34,442 32,826 26,354
Belgium 22,126 23,563 25,063 26,864 29,408 33,418 34,705 30,228
Bulgaria 34,761 37,951 41,322 45,478 50,492 56,211 57,961 58,047
Croatia 5026 5669 6479 7580 8884 10,485 9763 4729
Cyprus 85 123 120 133 257 299 195 30
Czech Republic 25,407 28,540 31,125 33,862 38,939 43,673 42,840 33,981
Denmark 15,125 28,714 34,147 34,846 29,744
Estonia 12,989 14,088 15,575 16,928 18,517 20,233 20,940 20,930
Finland 22,807 24,831 27,871 30,333 32,214 34,986 36,267 34,650
France 86,187 89,648 87,742 90,151 94,671 111,504 88,851 60,287
Germany 80,921 77,932 77,853 82,383 88,976 105,677 104,632 75,580
Greece 4115 4039 4061 3960 3932 4109 4078 3392
Hungary 37,396 41,400 43,822 46,493 49,668 53,260 35,933 19,183
Iceland 5585 5957 6384 6859 7487 8122 8407 8325
Ireland 29,308 31,784 34,426 37,590 39,887 40,885 37,800 32,344
Italy 214,879 230,859 250,308 272,022 296,517 325,279 332,071 298,201
Latvia 11,065 12,514 14,242 16,078 17,906 19,627 17,829 14,010
Lithuania 1317 1556 1643 1666 1972 2173 2327 1991
Luxembourg 1825 1943 2260 4151 5319 5837 5881 5245
Malta 697 770 840 879 925 972 592 151
Netherlands 18,347 19,901 21,936 24,107 26,712 29,005 26,920 15,002
Norway 35,966 40,685 46,023 51,876 58,792 66,171 68,812 61,110
Poland 24,575 26,921 29,893 32,363 29,444 68,078 67,688 60,012
Portugal 95,817 101,897 107,727 114,345 121,199 130,169 135,770 133,474
Romania 94,373 107,993 116,317 123,628 132,923 145,999 150,269 152,435
Slovakia 23,031 25,622 29,386 30,677 32,934 36,106 38,210 38,008
Slovenia 10,067 10,693 11,485 12,221 12,530 13,705 13,452 12,065
Spain 80,319 82,973 86,206 89,665 93,831 99,447 92,705 72,164
Sweden 13,108 14,485 15,967 17,466 19,362 21,550 20,432 13,316
Switzerland 118 118 120 121 123 126 125 117
United Kingdom 413,792 464,024 523,062 597,973 683,764 776,127 798,528 734,946
Total 1,428,599 1,553,037 1,686,171 1,862,262 2,057,996 2,331,822 2,321,655 2,050,051

Notes: The table shows the number of private firms of the European Economic Area as reported in Bureau van Dijk’s
database Amadeus accessed through the Wharton Research Data Service (WRDS) for the years 2012–2019 (date of
download: 30 April 2021). The data represents the universe of independent firms (independence indicator A+, A, A–,
B+, B, B–, or ‘–’, i.e. no subsidiaries of business groups). We keep only firm-years with 12 months and with
reporting practice being equal to ‘consolidated data’ or ‘unconsolidated data’. If both consolidated and
unconsolidated data is available, consolidated data is used. We only consider firms with non-missing and non-
negative total assets, and only include non-financial firms (Item ussic_core_code > 900 and ussic_core_code > 599 &
ussic_core_code < 680 deleted). Liechtenstein is not included in the Table as no firm fulfils the selection criteria.

15Note that the public/private classification is time invariant and thus based on the last available
information.
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Amadeus increased remarkably from 1,428,792 in 2012 to 2,050,051 in 2019, an increase of
around 44%.16 Individual countries display an increase in covered firms of more than 200%
(e.g. Poland). Given that the reasons for individual coverage are mostly unknown, an important
takeaway from the drastic growth in the number of observations is that conclusions from private
firm studies that were conducted several years ago could potentially be affected by changes in
sample representation. As an example, for the UK, one of the most comprehensively examined
countries in the literature covered in this review, the number of private firms covered by
Amadeus almost doubled over the past decade.

These coverage issues directly affect descriptive studies that seek to be representative of the
underlying population of European firms. In addition, they are relevant for studies that base infer-
ence on time (e.g. event studies, interrupted time series or difference-in-differences designs) and
that employ unbalanced panels.

2.2.4. Non-EU data

In the interest of completeness, in this section, we provide an overview of exemplary non-EU
data sources used in the literature. A few studies use the Sageworks database (Minnis and Suther-
land 2017, Minnis 2011, Hope et al. 2013, 2017), which covers U.S. private firms. Although
sample sizes here can be relatively large, smaller firms are less likely to be covered because
the data was obtained from auditors and thus excludes firms that do not use an auditing firm.
At the same time, the largest private firms tend to not be covered as well, as the Big 4 auditors
did not contribute to the Sageworks database. Furthermore, Sageworks has discontinued its
reporting activities, and the last year available is 2009 (Hope et al. 2017). Another potential
source of data for private firms in the U.S. is regulatory filings, e.g. for banks (Beatty et al.
2002) or insurance companies (Beaver et al. 2003), or (confidential) tax filings with the IRS
(Lisowsky and Minnis 2020).

Other papers use survey data provided by theWorld Bank. Francis et al. (2008) and Francis et al.
(2011) use the World Business Environment Survey, which was conducted in the late 1990s and
early 2000s, and Chen et al. (2011) use the 2002–2005 World Bank’s Enterprise Survey. Cassar
(2009) examines data from the 2005–2011 Panel Study of Entrepreneurial Dynamics (PSED) to
gather entrepreneurial reporting initiatives in the US, but this data is highly specific and not used
in other accounting studies. Cassar and Gibson (2008) use the Business Growth and Performance
Survey by the Australian Bureau of Statistics to observe variation in the use of budgets and internal
accounting preparation. Such data is unique and typically not available in commercial databases, so
it can yield innovative new insights on fine-grained discussions on reporting decisions in private
firms. Cassar et al. (2015) use data from the 2003 Survey of Small Business Finance (SSBF) admi-
nistered by the U.S. Federal Reserve and Small Business Administration.

Finally, another common method of obtaining information about private firms’ reporting
environment within and outside the EU are self-developed, customised surveys (Penno and
Simon 1986, Cloyd et al. 1996, Davila and Foster 2005, 2007, Sandino 2007, Indjejikian and
Matějka 2009, Guerreiro et al. 2012, Niemi et al. 2012, Svanström 2013) or expert interviews
(Gassen 2017, Bourveau et al. 2020). Table 4 provides an overview of the data sources used
in papers included in this overview study. A complete list of all data sources can be found in
our online database.

16This number does not take into account that for Danish firms only the last 5 years are available. However,
the numbers are only marginally affected due to the low number of Danish firms. Furthermore, the data for
2019 is likely not complete at the time of writing.

16 C. Beuselinck et al.



2.3. Research perspectives

Some research questions arise directly from the regulatory framework as well as from our dis-
cussion of the availability of private firm reporting data. The overarching takeaway is that
while public and commercial databases allow nearly complete coverage of all public firms in
an economy, researchers need to be aware of generally overlooked selection issues regarding
private firm coverage. Similar to the question of going public vs. staying private, these issues
offer research opportunities centred on the question for which private firms, and to what
extent, financial accounting data can be observed in the first place.

First, disclosure regulation plays an essential role in private firm reporting, and firms can cir-
cumvent disclosure regulation by choosing legal forms that are generally not (or less) subject to
regulation. For example, partnerships and sole proprietorships are not required to publish finan-
cial statements in Europe and, consequently, are usually not covered by commercial databases.
One research avenue could potentially target the determinants of voluntary disclosure of such
legal entities and examine whether growth ambitions or financing needs are driving their report-
ing decisions (similar to, e.g. Beuselinck et al. 2008). Second, regulatory reporting thresholds
often determine the quantity of accounting information provided by firms. For instance, as

Table 4. Frequently used databases.

FAME (14) Chaney et al. (2004), TAR; Collis et al. (2004), ABR; Ball and Shivakumar
(2005), JAE; Clatworthy and Peel (2007), JBFA; Ball and Shivakumar
(2008), JAE; Dedman and Lennox (2009), JAE; Lennox and Pittman (2011),
TAR; Collis (2012), ABR; Dedman and Kausar (2012), ABR; Lennox and Li
(2012), JAE; Clatworthy and Peel (2013), JAPP; Dedman et al. (2014), EAR;
Kausar et al. (2016), JAE; Peel (2018), ABR

Amadeus (11) Burgstahler et al. (2006), TAR; Tendeloo and Vanstraelen (2008), EAR; Peek
et al. (2010), CAR; Beuselinck et al. (2015), RAST; Gassen and Fülbier
(2015), JIAR; Bernard (2016), JAE; Kaya and Pronobis (2016), JAPP;
Mafrolla and D’Amico (2017), JAPP; Bernard et al. (2018), JAE; Breuer
et al. (2018), RFS; Bonacchi et al. (2019), RAST

Bel-First (7) Van der Bauwhede and Willekens (2004), EAR; Beuselinck et al. (2008), EAR;
Gaeremynck et al. (2008), EAR; Beuselinck et al. (2009), JBFA; Andries
et al. (2017), EAR; Dekeyser et al. (2018), CAR; De Meyere et al. (2018),
ABR; Raak et al. (2020), JBFA

SDC (6) Teoh et al. (1998), JF; Fan (2007), TAR; Fortin and Pittman (2007), CAR; Allee
and Wangerin (2018), RAST; Sletten et al. (2018), RAST; Chen (2019), JAR

Sageworks (4) Minnis (2011), JAR; Hope et al. (2013), TAR; Hope et al. (2017), JAPP; Minnis
and Sutherland (2017), JAR

Orbis (3) Cascino and Gassen (2015), RAST; Downes et al. (2018), JAPP; Haga et al.
(2018), JAPP

Hoppenstedt (3) Szczesny and Valentincic (2013), JBFA; Bassemir (2018), ABR; Bassemir and
Novotny-Farkas (2018), JBFA

National Bank of
Belgium (3)

Aerts (2005), AOS; Gaeremynck and Willekens (2003), ABR; Carcello et al.
(2009), TAR

2003 SSBF (3)* Allee and Yohn (2009), TAR; Corten et al. (2015), ABR; Cassar et al. (2015),
JAE

This table shows the databases used most frequently in the papers covered in the literature review. The table only includes
databases that were used at least three times.
*Survey of Small Business Finance.

Accounting and Business Research 17



outlined in Section 2.1, the amount of disclosure requirements in Europe depends on whether
firms are classified as micro-firms, small, medium, or large corporations. Research can shed
light on the perceived cost of disclosure by investigating potential size management around
specific thresholds prior to versus post such size classification changes (similar to, e.g.
Bernard et al. 2018). Third, little is known about the determinants of compliance with private
firms’ financial reporting requirements. Public enforcement agencies, which were set up with
the introduction of IFRS in Europe, only enforce the IFRS statements of public firms, but are
not responsible for private firms’ financial statements. There exists descriptive country-level evi-
dence that stricter enforcement of financial statement disclosure for private firms has increased
compliance in Germany (e.g. Laschewski and Nasev 2017). An appealing avenue for future
research could focus on the channels of enforcement and the determinants of their effectiveness
in the absence of capital market oversight. Evidence on potential non-compliance can again
further our understanding of the costs of disclosure for private firms.

In addition to these questions regarding the actual production of financial information in the
first place, researchers need to take into account the extent to which this information is covered in
their data sources. For instance, database providers rarely collect private firms’ financial reports
themselves but instead rely on information intermediaries such as credit bureaus. Where there is
no demand from the credit bureaus’ customers regarding certain private firms, likely, these firms
are also not covered in their databases (see Table 2 and Section 2.2.2). Insights on the determi-
nants of inclusion in such credit registers can help to understand the nature of the demand for
private firm’s public financial accounting.

A related point is that, as outlined above, the coverage of private firms in commercial data-
bases has changed substantially across jurisdictions and over time, which might be associated
with a systematic bias of earlier findings if newly covered firms differ from those included in
the past. Researchers should therefore critically question the generalisability of earlier results
to the general population of private firms, and studies that document database coverage bias
by revisiting prior studies or by using alternative data sources would be particularly important.
Similarly, several well-cited studies in the literature are based on single-country data (e.g. from
Belgium and the UK) or are limited to single industries (e.g. banks). It may be interesting to
examine whether it is possible to reconcile their sometimes conflicting results based on
sample selection.

Additionally, we encourage researchers to tap innovative datasets beyond commercial data
providers, e.g. by using local business registers or based on manual data collection. Despite
the potential efforts in data collection, the creation of such innovative datasets avoids any data
loss due to aggregation and standardisation of data providers and can yield novel insights
beyond what we could grasp from commercial databases (e.g. detailed footnote disclosure are
often not included in commercial databases).

3. State of the literature and research avenues

After discussing the regulation of private firm financial reporting in Europe and the availability
as well as peculiarities of private firm financial accounting data, in this section, we present a
structured review of the global private firm accounting literature. After briefly presenting the
methodology of our review, we structure our discussion along what we identify as the three
main motivations for conducting private firm accounting research: (i) to understand private
firms per se, (ii) to understand how private firms differ from public firms, and (iii) to use
private firms as a setting to obtain insights that generalise across private and public firms. At
the end of each of these sections, we outline potential research perspectives.

18 C. Beuselinck et al.



3.1. Methodology

We preselect the papers in this literature review over a 35-year time window (1986-2020) from a
list of 10 journals as the premier category of academic peer-reviewed business journals that
welcome studies on any accounting-related subject and which embrace various research method-
ologies.17 For each of these journals, we screen titles and abstracts for variations of the keyword
‘private firm’ to identify potentially relevant studies. We then manually inspect all flagged papers
to determine whether they fall explicitly within the scope of this review. In particular, we require
that the inclusion of private firms is an essential and explicit part of the research question or
research design, and not just an artefact of data collection. For example, we do not include
studies that simply happen to use a pooled sample of private and public firms without following
up on this distinction (e.g. Chi et al. 2012).18 Further, we exclude a subset of papers that focus on
firms that have both features of a public and private firm status, for instance when they have
private equity but hold public debt (e.g. Badertscher et al. 2014, Givoly et al. 2010). We comp-
lement these selection steps with a snowballing procedure that includes studies from other jour-
nals which were referred to at least five times in the originally selected papers. This procedure

Figure 2. Publications over time. Note: This figure shows the cumulative number of publications covered
in the literature review over time by our core list of 10 accounting journals. Studies from other journals that
were identified via snowballing are not included.

17In alphabetical order: Accounting and Business Research (ABR); Accounting, Organizations, and Society
(AOS); Accounting Review (TAR); Contemporary Accounting Research (CAR); European Accounting
Review (EAR); Journal of Accounting and Economics (JAE); Journal of Accounting and Public Policy
(JAPP); Journal of Accounting Research (JAR); Journal of Business, Finance & Accounting (JBFA);
and Review of Accounting Studies (RAST).
18For this reason, we also discard papers with a particular industry focus, in particular regarding the banking
industry, that refer to (regulatory) data on both private and public firms, but pool them for unrelated research
questions (see Beatty and Liao 2014).
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ensures that we cover contributions that have proven to be impactful in the accounting community
even when not published in the core journals. We do, however, not include studies in our literature
review that were not (yet) subject to peer review, regardless of their impact, but include examples
when discussing research perspectives. The final sample includes 121 studies that have been pub-
lished between 1986 and 2020. Figure 2 shows the cumulative development of published papers
over time by journal. Despite different growth rhythms across journals, the general trend shows
that papers on private firms are continuously being published in nearly all outlets.19

In the following subsections, we classify the identified literature along the three guiding
research questions outlined in the introduction. More specifically, we distinguish between
three broad categories of research papers. First, a core stream of the literature looks at research
questions that study private firms per se, for example, reporting incentives in IPO settings, or
consequences of the involvement of Private Equity investors (Section 3.2). Studies in the
second category analyze cross-sectional differences between public and private firms (Section
3.3). Finally, studies in the third category are not only interested in private firms per se, but
are concerned with research questions that apply to a wider range of firms (Section 3.4).

3.2. Private firms: specific research questions

The literature covered in this section is concerned with research questions that cannot be gener-
alised to public firms, as they address topics that only apply to private firms or that have an expli-
cit descriptive focus on private firms only. We broadly structure studies in this section along the
private firm lifecycle from early-stage start-ups that seek equity financing to exit options like
IPOs and private takeovers.

3.2.1. Legal form choice

One of the first decisions a new firm faces is the choice of the legal form. We are only aware of
one paper that addresses accounting issues around this decision. Bigus et al. (2016) investigate
whether financial accounting choices made by German private firms depend on legal form. In
line with the agency argument of debt, they observe that corporations exhibit higher levels of
income smoothing, conservatism, and small positive profits compared to partnerships and
one-person businesses.

3.2.2. Reporting in startup firms

Cassar (2009) studies a sample of 200 U.S. firms in the process of starting up a business to
analyze financial reporting decisions in the absence of regulatory oversight. He finds that external
financing, venture scale, and the level of competition are positively associated with the intended
frequency of financial statement preparation. In a related study, Cassar and Gibson (2008) find
for a large sample of privately held small Australian firms that internal accounting report prep-
aration significantly improves internal revenue forecast accuracy, but only for the subset of firms
that operate in high uncertainty environments. Allee and Yohn (2009) document that small pri-
vately held businesses that are not subject to SEC regulation with audited financial statements
benefit in the form of greater access to credit and that firms with accrual-based financial state-
ments benefit in the form of a lower cost of credit. Similarly, Cassar et al. (2015) study small,
privately held U.S. companies and document that higher third-party credit scores, but not the

19Only Accounting, Organizations and Society remains at a modest level of three published articles by 2020.
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use of accrual accounting, decrease the likelihood of small business loan denial. Yet, accrual
accounting does help corporations in reducing the cost of debt after debt approval. A related
stream of literature studies determinants and consequences of adopting management accounting
systems in start-up firms (Sandino 2007, Davila and Foster 2007, Davila et al. 2015).

3.2.3. Private equity financing and financial reporting

With respect to equity financing decisions, several studies investigate the choice of private equity
(PE) and venture capital (VC) funding, which allows firms to recapitalise without being publicly
listed on a stock exchange, and how this choice potentially affects the financial reporting process
and outcomes. Armstrong et al. (2007) study a sample of U.S. private venture-backed firms and
observe on average pessimistic short-term management forecasts and optimistic longer-term
management forecasts. Beuselinck et al. (2008) investigate a sample of Belgian private firms
and document that PE investors do not necessarily target firms that signal their potential superior
quality through voluntary disclosure initiatives. However, once PE investors are on board, firms
disclose more financial information voluntarily. Using the same PE-backed private firms dataset,
Beuselinck et al. (2009) document that PE involvement also results in higher quality financial
reporting (as operationalised by the timeliness of loss recognition). These combined results
suggest that the enhanced information environment structure post-PE involvement results in
better reporting quality.

3.2.4. Initial public offerings and earnings properties

Several studies investigate how private firms’ reporting quality is shaped by the decision to go
public. Largely, this literature has evolved from arguments in studies such as Teoh et al. (1998),
who document that IPO firms report inflated earnings prior to the IPO event in an attempt to posi-
tively impact IPO pricing. Ball and Shivakumar (2008) question this finding and document for a
sample of UK IPOs that upward-biased estimates of discretionary accruals around large trans-
actions and events are potentially causing the results. They show that IPO firms in fact report
earnings of a higher quality and explain their results by the higher demand for high-quality
reporting post-IPO and by the higher monitoring efforts by auditors, corporate boards, financial
press, rating agencies, and other information intermediaries. Fan (2007) studies theoretically and
empirically how ownership retention and reported earnings jointly signal IPO quality. She finds
empirical evidence that the trade-off between both signals depends largely on the uncertainty
over future earnings. In a more recent study using quarterly earnings data, Sletten et al.
(2018) document abnormal positive accruals only for the quarter before and for the lockup
expiration quarter, but find no evidence of income-increasing earnings management before the
IPO event itself, suggesting that narrower time-frame analyses provide a better identification
strategy. Alhadab et al. (2015) examine real and accruals earnings management in relation to
IPO failure risk. They document that firms do apply real and accruals earnings management
in the IPO year and that opportunistic earnings management is associated with a higher IPO
failure risk ex-ante. Their results seem to be strongest for those observations with the highest
real earnings management during IPO years, confirming that real earnings management is a
potentially more harmful management practice for long-run firm survival.

3.2.5. Value relevance of private firm’s financials

Hand (2005) examines the value relevance of financial statement information before firms go
public and shows that financial information is equally relevant in private markets and in
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public equity markets. Relatedly, Armstrong et al. (2006) document that financial statement
information explains a sizable component of the levels and changes in valuation in both the
Pre-IPO and Post-IPO periods. De Franco et al. (2011) revisit the notion of a private company
valuation discount and examine the importance of hiring a Big 4 auditor. Their evidence confirms
that Big 4 auditor engagements yield higher sale proceeds of controlling interests in U.S. private
firms. Finally, Elnathan et al. (2010) document for a sample of Israeli firms that experts rely sub-
stantially on private firms’ reported earnings for valuation and transaction services despite the
possible threat of manipulation of these data in a private firm context.

3.2.6. IFRS for SMEs

Two other papers are concerned not with firm’s reporting choices, but with the country-level
decision to implement IFRS for SMEs. Kaya and Koch (2015) find that countries without
their own national GAAP system or that allow full IFRS implementation for private firms are
more likely to also allow IFRS for SMEs. Gassen (2017) complements these findings and pro-
vides descriptive evidence about the state of international implementation of IFRS for SMEs
from a country-level series of expert interviews.

3.2.7. Research perspectives

Understanding the role of financial reporting in the life cycle of private firms is of high relevance.
Due to data availability, almost all studies investigate limited liability companies. However,
financial accounting and disclosure regulation can already affect the decision to incorporate as
a limited liability company. If a start-up firm is highly concerned about proprietary costs, it
might decide not to incorporate and therefore, at least in the European Union, avoid public dis-
closure of financial statements. Studies on these early-stage decisions may prove to be valuable
in understanding the usefulness of accounting information production for private firms.

Successful startups usually face the challenge of how to finance their growth opportunities.
While there is some evidence on the role of accounting in private lending relationships, little is
known about how early-stage firms communicate with their shareholders and how this communi-
cation might differ between various types of shareholders, e.g. private shareholders, venture
capital firms, or private equity funds. Although we have some evidence on this topic (e.g. Beu-
selinck et al. 2008), more research is warranted.

While these questions relate to the early years of a private firm, we also do not have a good
understanding of the role of financial accounting regarding the exit options of private firm inves-
tors. Generally, the exit options for a private firm investor are to go public or to sell the shares in a
private-to-private transaction. Some studies have been concerned with financial accounting in the
IPO setting, but there is little evidence about its role in the detection and, in particular, valuation
of private M&A targets except some small-sample studies in selected industries (Hand 2005,
Armstrong et al. 2006). For example, potential areas of future research could be whether and
how the value relevance of financial accounting information varies with private firm maturity,
institutional characteristics, or accounting comparability to public peer firms.

Another important, but often neglected stage of the firm life cycle is declining and dying
firms as well as firms in financial distress. Given that insolvency, bankruptcies and liquidations
are everyday events, the literature on private firm accounting is surprisingly scarce on this topic.
We believe that studies on how the relatively extreme incentives in these situations interact with
the accounting regulatory framework, the insolvency framework, and the actual outcome would
be potentially impactful. While for publicly listed firms, insolvency cases are relatively rare and
are often resolved via delistings and restructurings, for private firms, insolvency cases are

22 C. Beuselinck et al.



frequent and thus allow a more high-powered analysis. Given the complex nature of national
insolvency laws, we also expect national settings that exploit these settings in detail to be prom-
ising in that regard. Importantly, many of these research perspectives are particularly suited for
alternative data sources and research methods that do not rely on large archival databases. For
instance, for early-stage private firms, financial reporting data is not generally available, and
early customer and financing relationships are likely to rely on private information channels.
Data from original or external surveys (Cassar 2009, Cassar and Gibson 2008, Cassar et al.
2015) or case studies can help to shed light on the provision and usage of financial reports for
such firms. Likewise, the confidential nature of VC financing rounds and acquisitions by corpor-
ate or PE investors warrants in-depth analyses to gauge, e.g. the relevance of financial reporting
relative to other sources of information in the due diligence process (Wangerin 2019). For firms
in distress, on the one hand, financial reporting is a potential channel for stakeholders to learn
about and react to the firm’s difficulties (i.e. it can accelerate bankruptcy), while on the other
hand, financial reporting and disclosure can be a tool to manage or mislead stakeholders’ percep-
tions. Qualitative insights regarding the usage of information in the run-up to corporate failures
can help to substantiate priors about the role of financial accounting in this intricate process.
Finally, given the general lack of mandated financial reporting for private firms outside the
EU, research on these countries by definition requires alternative ways of data generation,
which can be particularly fruitful and allow the in-depth analysis of phenomena less present
in Europe.

3.3. Private versus public firms

While accounting-related comparisons of public and private firms are concerned with different
topics, a common theme is that the absence of complex agency structures and capital market
demand in private firms reduces incentives for high-quality reporting. However, at the same
time, more complex agency structures and capital market pressure for public firms also introduce
incentives for strategic manipulation of accounting numbers in the first place. Consequently, it is a
priori not clear which effect will prevail in shaping private versus public firm reporting behaviour.

3.3.1. Financial reporting characteristics and accounting quality

3.3.1.1. Earnings quality. In one of the most widely cited contributions of the private firm
accounting literature, Burgstahler et al. (2006) find that private firms in Europe show higher
levels of earnings management than public firms. Hope et al. (2013) confirm these findings
studying accruals quality for a sample of U.S. companies, but additionally document that
public firms’ higher level of accounting quality is conditional on their specific (mis)reporting
incentives and market demand for financial information. Bigus and Hillebrand (2017) show
that a low number of bank relationships negatively affects accounting quality of private firms,
but no such effect is observed for public firms. Shuto and Iwasaki (2015) find for a Japanese
sample that firms with tight relationships with their banks are more likely to manage earnings
to report slightly positive earnings. In particular, the authors document that this relationship is
more pervasive for private firms than public firms.

Other studies find conflicting results and suggest that private firms have a higher level of
earnings quality than public firms. Beatty and Harris (1998) and Beatty et al. (2002) document
that private banks in the U.S. engage less in earnings management than their public peers. This is
consistent with Beaver et al. (2003), who find that only public insurers manage their loss pro-
visions to avoid small losses, and Kim and Yi (2006), who document that Korean private
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firms engage less in earnings management through discretionary accruals. Regarding real earn-
ings management, Haga et al. (2018) find that UK public firms engage more in managing sales,
discretionary expenses, and production, while Hall (2016) suggests that U.S. public banks have a
stronger inclination than private banks to adjust their labour cost to meet reporting targets.

So far, there have been only few attempts to reconcile these contradictory findings. An excep-
tion is a recent study by Bonacchi et al. (2019), who show that the lower earnings quality of
private firms is driven by private standalone firms, while private business groups have even
higher earnings quality than publicly listed business groups.

3.3.1.2. Conservatism. While one of the earliest studies in our review finds that private firms
are less likely to choose certain income-increasing accounting alternatives than public firms
(Penno and Simon 1986), later work almost consistently suggests a higher level of conservatism
among public relative to private firms. Ball and Shivakumar (2005) find that loss recognition is
less timely for private than for public firms in the UK. Similarly, Ball and Shivakumar (2008)
observe that IPO firms from the UK report more conservatively than both their private and
public peers. Peek et al. (2010) provide evidence that more conservative public firm reporting
is driven by public firms’ creditors’ relatively stronger demand for asymmetric loss recognition.
Nichols et al. (2009) find that U.S. public banks show a higher degree of conditional conserva-
tism in loan loss provisions relative to their private counterparts, and Gormley et al. (2012) docu-
ment that foreign bank market entry causes higher levels of conservatism for Indian firms.

3.3.1.3. Other aspects of financial reporting. Few papers have compared other financial report-
ing characteristics among private and public firms. Yoo et al. (2018) provide evidence that during
the 2007/2008 financial crisis, Korean public firms were more likely to adopt the Fair Value
option for PP&E, hinting at more market demand for public fair value information with diversi-
fied shareholders. Aerts (2005) finds that in corporate narratives like the director’s report, both
acclaiming and defensive self-presentational tendencies are more pronounced in listed compa-
nies, pointing at the role of impression management as a reaction to market pressure. DiGabriele
(2008) documents that the private firm discount increases post the implementation of the Sar-
banes-Oxley (SOX) Act, suggesting that SOX had detrimental consequences for private firms.

3.3.2. Audit

While there is extensive literature on auditing among private firms (see Section 3.4.3), only a few
studies directly compare public and private firms. A common argument in these studies is that liti-
gation and reputation risk is lower for private relative to public audit clients, potentially leading to
lower levels of scrutiny. Against this backdrop, Bell et al. (2015) provide evidence that in contrast
to public firms, internal assessments of audit quality decrease with long tenure for private clients.
Lennox and Li (2012) find that audit firms that become limited liability companies (instead of full
liability partnerships) are more willing to accept the more risky public clients, and Clatworthy and
Peel (2007) show that public UK firms pay higher audit fees than their private counterparts. Brivot
et al. (2018) provide interview evidence that the understanding of ‘audit quality’ differs across
private and public firm auditors, with the latter focusingmore on technical perfection and complete
documentation than on professional judgment and value added to the audit client. Finally, Allee and
Wangerin (2018) suggest that private M&A targets are being perceived as less transparent, leading
to a higher value of auditor verification of earnout provisions.
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3.3.3. Tax

Several studies explore the differential importance of tax incentives across private and public
firms, generally suggesting that, for example, capital market pressure and overall visibility
reduce public firms’ inclination for tax aggressiveness. Results from a survey by Cloyd et al.
(1996), which have been later confirmed with actual tax return data by Mills and Newberry
(2001), suggest that the nontax costs of book-tax conformity for aggressive income-decreasing
tax treatments are higher for public firms, which therefore are less likely to choose conformity
even when it makes it easier to defend aggressive tax treatments against the IRS. Lin et al.
(2013) show that private firms display more intertemporal income shifting when faced with a
tax rate change. Similarly, Beuselinck et al. (2015) find that private multinationals engage
more in income shifting to low tax subsidiaries. Hoopes et al. (2018) argue that the cost of
tax disclosure is higher for private firms and find that when tax disclosures were introduced in
Australia in 2015, private firms engaged more in avoiding such disclosures.

3.3.4. Research perspectives

While we observe that papers comparing private and public firms are among the most cited work
in our overview, we are still lacking a good understanding of the decision of private firms to go
public, and in particular of the role of financial reporting in this context.20 For instance, tighter
disclosure regulation, more visibility, and higher levels of scrutiny from supervisors and infor-
mation intermediaries in public markets might discourage firms from going public. There are
a variety of possible sources of the increased cost of reporting such as, for example, proprietary
costs, or an insufficient internal reporting environment. Such questions are highly relevant per se,
but in addition, they raise concerns about self-selection and endogeneity both when directly com-
paring public and private firms and when studying common research questions regarding private
or public firms in isolation.

Next, the partially contradicting findings regarding, for example, differences in financial
reporting quality across public and private firms warrant research that reconciles prior evidence
and explains differences on a more granular level. In particular, a textured analysis of stakeholder
structures beyond the dichotomous public/private split can potentially shed light on the exact
sources of reporting incentives in various agency settings. An example of such an approach is
the recent study by Bonacchi et al. (2019), who examine variation across private groups and stan-
dalone firms. A related promising avenue of research is to examine the role of stakeholders other
than direct capital providers such as shareholders and banks. For example, we know little about
the role of trade credit, an important source of funding for smaller private firms, and correspond-
ing information intermediaries like information bureaus and rating agencies.

Further, differences in the visibility of public and private firms also likely influence infor-
mation demand from non-investment stakeholders regarding the disclosure of non-financial
information, e.g. regarding environmental or CSR activities, and the consequences of these dis-
closures. In a similar vein, the effect of the public/private distinction on the external monitoring
of tax aggressiveness is not well understood. There is also emerging literature on how visibility
shapes regulators’ incentives for supervisory action (Kleymenova and Tomy 2021). Compari-
sons between public and private firms open promising perspectives to assess the interplay of
financial and non-financial reporting, market discipline, and supervisory behaviour in regulated
industries.

20One example is an influential finance paper by Pagano et al. (1998), who show that companies’ size and
the industry’s market-to-book ratio are determinants of going public.
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Corresponding to a closer examination of the impact of various stakeholder groups, there is a
need to better understand differences in the channels through which those stakeholders might
influence reporting incentives. An obvious example is executive compensation and, potentially,
profit distributions. By definition, compensation for private firm executives cannot be based on
market value and likely has to rely more on accounting numbers, which could exacerbate incen-
tives for earnings management.

Further, so far there is also very limited knowledge on the role of the internal information
environment and management accounting systems for private firms. In particular, an avenue
for future research could be whether differences in internal resources drive observable differ-
ences in external reporting outcomes, or whether mandatory reporting requirements for public
firms have positive spillover effects on the quality of internal controls in private firms, and
which in turn may affect the latter’s decision-making.

A final problem is the tendency to use measurement concepts calibrated for public firms
when assessing accounting outcomes for private firms. While the informativeness of measures
like discretionary accruals, conservatism, and earnings smoothness is debatable even for
public firms, the sparse data that private firms provide in their financials and their further aggre-
gation by data vendors make their construct validity even more questionable. Only very rarely do
private firms publish cash flow statements so that accruals have to be estimated based on balance
sheet data. As many firms also do not publish income statements and line items in balance sheets
are often highly aggregated, the measurement-induced noise in typical earnings attributes can be
expected to be substantial. In addition, it is likely to be mechanically related to firm size (because
of disclosure regulation) and voluntary disclosure incentives (as firms have substantial degrees of
freedom on how aggregated to report their financial information). A potential way forward is to
first revisit the economic construct that one aims to measure. Based on this, one can then con-
struct measures that make good use of the financial accounting data that private firms provide
while optimising construct validity. As an example: If one is interested in assessing the
quality of financial reporting by private firms, it might be more insightful to study the reporting
lag of private firms and the count of reported line items as well as the extensiveness of their notes
disclosures than calculating discretionary accruals based on rudimentary balance sheet data
(Clatworthy and Peel 2016). To inform such an approach it would also be important to
explore the actual usage of private firm reporting information, e.g. by creditors, competitors, cus-
tomers/suppliers, or tax authorities to understand which aspects of private firm reporting they
actually value as useful. Survey studies and expert interviews could provide suitable methods.

3.4. Private firms: general research questions

Studies in this section use private firm data to address research questions that in substance
equally apply to public and private firms and serve a dual purpose. First, they make statements
about private firms and within private firm variation and therefore allow implicit comparisons to
corresponding research on public firms to highlight differences between private and public firms
similar to the studies presented in Section 3.3. Second, using private firm data often allows a
cleaner setting to revisit established general research questions.

There are various reasons why a private firm setting might be desirable. For example, the
absence of capital market incentives allow for a clearer analysis of other determinants of report-
ing behaviour (e.g. Kosi and Valentincic 2013). Another important aspect of the private firm
setting is the role of regulation. Private firms sometimes allow clean identification due to regu-
latory settings that apply only to private firms (e.g. size-dependent disclosure rules in Breuer
et al. 2018), or that are confined to countries with limited public markets (e.g. several studies
on Belgian data such as Carcello et al. 2009). In a similar spirit, researchers can also exploit
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regulations that do not apply to private firms, either by using private firms as a within-country
control group for affected public firms (e.g. Cascino and Gassen 2015), or by utilising within-
private firm variation in voluntary compliance with rules that are mandatory for all public
firms, such as voluntary audits in Lennox and Pittman (2011), or bank-requested financial state-
ment verification in Lisowsky et al. (2017).

3.4.1. Disclosure of financial statements

The specific design and partial absence of rules mandating disclosure of financial statements
make private firms an interesting laboratory to explore first-order incentives for and effects of
public financial reporting. Chi et al. (2013) exploit the fact that Taiwan rescinded mandatory
financial reporting for private firms in 2001 to identify firms with high reporting incentives
(which continued to voluntarily provide public financial statements) and firms with low reporting
incentives (which ceased to report). They find that firms with high reporting incentives have
better corporate governance practices and higher reporting quality in the pre-2001 era.

Dedman and Lennox (2009) combine a survey with data from FAME for UK private firms
that can choose to disclose abbreviated instead of full financial statements. They show that man-
agers are more likely to withhold information when the perceived competition is high. In a
similar vein, Bernard (2016) uses a sample of German private firms that failed to disclose man-
dated public financial statements until fines for non-compliance were increased to a meaningful
level and documents that disclosure was avoided by financially constrained firms in order to
avoid product market predation by competitors. Bernard et al. (2018) exploit size thresholds
for mandated disclosures for European private firms. They find that firms with large proprietary
costs are willing to sacrifice growth and profit to avoid disclosure and that the cost of disclosing
an income statement is perceived as being similar to the cost of a mandatory audit. Lisowsky and
Minnis (2020) use confidential tax return data to provide large-sample evidence of accounting
choices for U.S. private firms, and observe that standard explanations for financial reporting
incentives (e.g. a primary focus on debt financing) are not conclusive in explaining firms’
observed reporting behaviour.

Regarding the consequences of public financial statements, Breuer et al. (2018) also exploit
discontinuous disclosure around size thresholds of German firms and show that mandated finan-
cial statements provide relevant information for banks, and that affected firms move from
relationship lending towards arms-length banking relationships. Using U.S. data, Chen (2019)
finds that the mandated disclosure of private M&A target firms’ financial statements that
exceed certain size thresholds disciplines management decisions and leads to more efficient
M&A decisions, pointing at the role of public information in facilitating investor monitoring.

Finally, Shroff et al. (2017) exploit that private firms in the U.S. do not have to issue public
financial statements to explore the effect of peer information on a firms’ cost of capital. Private
firms that issue public debt for the first time pay lower bond yields, and IPO firms display lower
initial bid-ask spreads in industries with a richer public peer information environment. This effect
phases out as more firm-specific information becomes available over time and suggests the spil-
lover of peer information to less transparent firms.

3.4.2. Financial reporting characteristics and accounting quality

3.4.2.1. Earnings quality. In the absence of capital market regulation, Hope et al. (2017) explore
the determinants of accruals quality among a large sample of private U.S firms and find that it is
driven by demand for informative financial reporting from non-managing shareholders,
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debtholders, and suppliers. Gassen and Fülbier (2015) document that debt-agency incentives are
associated with smoother earnings streams for European private firms and that this association
is moderated by the country-level infrastructure of contract enforcement and bankruptcy regu-
lation. Bigus and Häfele (2018) look at shareholder loans as a specific source of funding
common for private firms in Germany, and document that the dual stakeholder role of shareholders
granting loans mitigates agency conflicts from excessive leverage and decreases earnings
smoothing.

Regarding the consequences of accounting quality, using data from the World Bank’s Enter-
prise Survey, Chen et al. (2011) document that accruals quality is associated with investment effi-
ciency even for private firms from emerging countries, and in particular when they rely more on
bank financing, but less so when incentives for tax avoidance prevail. De Meyere et al. (2018)
find for Belgian private firms that higher financial reporting quality facilitates access to long
term debt financing, while in contrast, Mafrolla and D’Amico (2017), using data from Italy, Por-
tugal, and Spain suggest that firms engaging in earnings management have easier access to debt,
yet also pay higher interest.

3.4.2.2. Conservatism and write-offs. Garrod et al. (2008) and Kosi and Valentincic (2013)
study the role of tax incentives for aggressive write-offs using a large sample of private firms
in Slovenia. Their sample allows to abstract from financial reporting incentives, as sample
firms are less affected by agency conflicts and show high conformity between tax accounting
and financial accounting. The results provide evidence that obtaining tax savings is an important
objective for private firms’ financial reporting choices. For a sample of German private firms that
are larger, and thus might have dispersed ownership and agency issues, Szczesny and Valentincic
(2013) document that private firms use more asset write-downs when they are more profitable (to
build reserves), have higher leverage (because banks prefer conservative reporting) and pay divi-
dends (because majority shareholders try to limit the pool of financial resources available for
pay-outs). Haw et al. (2014) find for a sample of Korean firms that private firms with public
debt show a higher degree of conditional conservatism compared to private firms without
such debt, in particular when they exhibit high information asymmetry and high credit risk.

3.4.3. Audit

Audit research likely represents the most developed stream of literature on private firms (see
Vanstraelen and Schelleman (2017) for an extensive overview). While public firms are generally
mandated to have their financial statements audited, the lack of such regulation for certain private
firms allows for a better identification of the determinants of demand for and the benefits of
voluntary audits. A significant number of papers also revisit research questions on differences
between Big N and other auditors in the private firm context.

3.4.3.1. Demand for voluntary audit engagements. The UK, in particular, has provided fertile
ground for studies on voluntary audits in private firms. Historically, the UK had mandated uni-
versal audit, but in 1994, the implementation of the Fourth EU Directive introduced size
thresholds for audit exemptions and allowed small private companies to opt out of audit for
the first time. From a survey of 385 corporate directors, Collis et al. (2004) conclude that the
majority of respondents who qualify for audit exemption continue audit engagements, suggesting
that the benefits from audits outweigh their costs. In particular, credit agreements are detected as
an important factor driving this decision. Collis (2012) later uses a questionnaire to survey a
variety of factors that may affect the decision of UK private firms to opt for voluntary audits
as well as the decision to register voluntary full accounts instead of abridged formats. She
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confirms that the benefits of full audited accounts outweigh the costs for a significant proportion
of companies. Dedman et al. (2014) follow over 6000 audit-exempt private UK firms over 3
years and find that these are more likely to purchase voluntary audits if they have greater
agency costs, are riskier, wish to raise capital, purchase non-audit services from their auditor,
and exhibited greater demand for audit assurance in the mandatory audit regime.

Some other studies investigate the demand for voluntary audits in countries other than the
UK. Abdel-Khalik (1993) uses survey responses from a sample of U.S. private firms to document
that demand for voluntary audits arises from a loss of control in hierarchical organisations. Carey
and Guest (2000) determine the optimal timing of financial statement audits for a sample of 53
Australian private companies and confirm the timing is shaped by a trade-off between audit costs
and the losses that are expected to accrue in the absence of auditing. Esplin et al. (2018) interview
stakeholders of Canadian companies and find that both internal and external stakeholders
demand audits and that audit quality is gauged via straightforward proxies including the level
of audit fees, auditor efforts and expertise, as well as the absence of errors. Francis et al.
(2011) employ private firm data from 80 countries from the 2002 World Bank Economic
Survey data and show that the voluntary use of assurance services acts as a substitute for the
lack of strong local institutions. Niemi et al. (2012) use a sample of 412 private firms from
Finland and show that there is increased demand for voluntary audits when private firms out-
source accounting functions. In a study on US private family firms from the 2003 Survey on
Small Business Finance, Corten et al. (2015) document a negative association between manage-
ment ownership and the demand for auditor services, but only for first-generation private family
firms. For second-generation firms, demand increases, in line with a higher need for assurance
due to the entrenching behaviour of descendants compared to founder-owners.

3.4.3.2. Benefits of voluntary audit engagements. Several studies investigate the effect of
voluntary audits on private firms’ risk perception and the cost of debt. Again, the UK provides
a preferred country setting. Lennox and Pittman (2011) find that UK firms with voluntary audits
benefit from credit rating upgrades, while firms that opt out of audits experience credit rating
downgrades. This result indicates that self-selection into auditing sends a positive signal about
firms’ financial stability. Similarly, Dedman and Kausar (2012) confirm that private UK compa-
nies with voluntary audits enjoy significantly higher credit scores than those opting out of audit,
despite being less profitable on average. They further observe that firms opting out of audits
report less conservatively than audited firms. This is in line with Clatworthy and Peel (2013),
who find that UK private firms with unaudited financial statements are twice as likely as their
audited peers to restate prior-period accounting errors. Peel (2018) studies credit scoring conse-
quences of audit assurance choices made by UK micro-entities. His findings also suggest that the
publication of unaudited micro-accounts conveys a negative signal to the credit agencies. Never-
theless, the voluntary audit choice does not seem to uniformly influence the sample firms’ credit
scores positively. Kausar et al. (2016) provide additional evidence that in the UK setting volun-
tary audits are a positive signal toward capital providers that results in a relaxation of financing
constraints and increases investment levels.

Outside the UK, Blackwell et al. (1998) use proprietary bank data and show that audited firms
pay significantly lower interest rates in a sample of small private U.S. firms. These results are
later confirmed by Kim et al. (2011) for a sample of private firms from Korea, where mandatory
audits depend on firm size. Minnis (2011) extends and refines this analysis for a large sample of
U.S. private firms and highlights that this mechanism likely works through higher financial
reporting quality and a stronger emphasis on financial statement information by lenders when
setting the interest rate.
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3.4.3.3. Auditor characteristics and auditor choice. A large number of papers are concerned
with research questions regarding auditor choice, and in particular potential differences in
audit quality between Big N firms and smaller auditors. While audit studies on public firms
do not suggest any link between management ownership and auditor size, Lennox (2005) docu-
ments that for private firms, the association between management ownership and Big 5 auditor
choice is significantly negative both in low and high regions, but positive in intermediate regions
of management ownership. Hope et al. (2012) study a proprietary dataset on private firm ultimate
ownership obtained from the Norwegian government that includes extensive demographic data
and blood links and show that audit fees vary with ownership structures and family relationships.
Firms demand greater audit quality (i.e. Big 4 auditors) in the presence of agency conflicts, but
not when CEOs are related to shareholders.

Several papers study audit quality using data on private firms from Belgium. Gaeremynck
and Willekens (2003) investigate the association of qualified auditor opinions and bankruptcy
risk. They find that qualified audit opinions are informative about future bankruptcy risk and
that Big 6 auditors seem to be more efficient in picking up bankruptcy risk where it is harder
to detect (i.e. firms that liquidate voluntarily), while for obvious cases of imminent bankruptcy
there is no difference in audit quality in the cross-section of audit firms. Dekeyser et al. (2018)
use a dataset of private firms auditing engagements from a Belgian Big 4 firm and show that audit
office size is negatively related to the number of audit hours, consistent with a learning curve at
the audit office level. Van der Bauwhede and Willekens (2004) find no evidence that Big 6 audi-
tors or any other continuous measure of audit firm size are associated with higher levels of
clients’ financial reporting quality (as measured by discretionary accruals) for Belgian firms.
However, using hand-collected disclosure data from a smaller random sample of 250 Belgian
private firms, Gaeremynck et al. (2008) find that while again audit clients’ financial reporting
and disclosure quality appears not to be driven by the auditor’s portfolio size per se, instead
other characteristics of the auditor portfolio such as the visibility and financial health of
clients lead to higher audit quality.

Van Tendeloo and Vanstraelen (2008) document for a sample of private firms from six
countries in Western Europe that while Big 4 auditors provide higher levels of audit quality
(measured by lower levels of earnings management), this effect is confined to countries with a
high level of alignment between tax and financial accounts, pointing at the role of tax authorities
in scrutinising audit quality. For a large sample of Spanish private firms, Cano-Rodríguez (2010)
observes that clients of Big 6 auditors display higher levels of conditional conservatism (as an
indicator of higher financial reporting quality), yet big auditors also seem to push unconditional
conservatism for clients with arguably higher litigation and reputation loss risk. Also using
Spanish data, for a sample of 533 private pre-bankruptcy firms, Ajona et al. (2008) find that
clients of Big 6 auditors show a significantly lower level of discretionary accruals and a
greater propensity to receive a going-concern opinion. Using data on disciplinary actions
against individual auditors from the Swedish Supervisory Body of Public Accountants, Sundgren
and Svanström (2013) find that the top 6 audit firms in Sweden display a higher level of audit
quality and that there is a significant association between audit office size and audit quality
for the non-top 6 audit firms, which is also reflected in the level of audit fees.

This stands in contrast to earlier findings by Chaney et al. (2004), who study private audit
clients in the UK and document that Big 4 auditors of UK private firms do not receive higher
fees for their services, suggesting that hiring a brand-name auditor does not materially affect
financial reporting quality for small private firms. Regarding the economic benefits of hiring
large audit firms, Fortin and Pittman (2007) hand-match fixed-rate nonconvertible 144A bond
issues made by US private firms and do not find evidence that Big 4 auditor presence or
auditor tenure improve the yield spreads or credit ratings of straight bond offers. Their results
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suggest that auditor choice in private U.S. firms does not affect credit rating agencies’ percep-
tions of financial statements quality nor the perceptions of bondholders about auditor insurance
coverage.

3.4.3.4. Auditor independence. Hope and Langli (2010) investigate the potential impairment of
auditor independence through high audit fees for a large sample of private firms in Norway.
Exploiting that for these firms both the risk of reputation loss (because of being private) and
the litigation risk (because they are located in Norway) is low compared to earlier literature
with mixed findings based on public firm data mostly from the U.S., they still do not find any
indication that high audit fees lead to a lower incidence of going concerns opinions or other
audit opinion modifications. In a similar vein, Svanström (2013) analyzes data from 420
Swedish private firms and finds that the provision of non-audit services does not seem to
impair audit quality (as measured by discretionary accruals and management perceptions of
audit quality). Instead, there seem to be positive spillover effects from certain accounting-
related non-audit services.

3.4.3.5. Other audit papers. Three other papers cover complementary research questions.
Niemi and Sundgren (2012) use a large sample of Finnish SMEs and, in contrast to prior
research, find no evidence for an association between modified audit opinions and the availability
of bank credit. The authors argue that private SMEs are the ideal setting to test their research
question given their dependence on financing from financial institutions and the high relative
importance of audit reports due to the lack of other information sources. Carcello et al. (2009)
study how a major revision in Belgian audit regulation towards rule-based auditing standards
affects the incidence of type I and type II errors regarding going concern opinions. Finally,
Raak et al. (2020) explore how audit market concentration affects price and quality competition
in different segments of the Belgian private-client audit market.

3.4.4. IFRS adoption

3.4.4.1. Voluntary IFRS adoption. While in most countries IFRS adoption is either mandatory or
forbidden for public firms, private firms often can decide whether to use local GAAP or IFRS, pro-
viding a useful setting to explore the determinants and consequences of producing IFRS accounts
for private firms per se and in comparison to established findings on the mandatory IFRS introduc-
tion for public firms. Further, the large group of private firms that continue to use local GAAP rep-
resents a convenient counterfactual to public peers that fall under mandatory IFRS regulation.

Guerreiro et al. (2012) provide a discussion of various determinants of voluntary IFRS adop-
tion based on a survey of Portuguese firms. Francis et al. (2008) find for a large international sample
of private firms that the decision to adopt IFRS is driven by both firm (ownership structure, invest-
ment opportunities, external financing needs) and country-level (institutional quality) determinants,
but that firm-level determinants become more important in more highly developed countries with a
stronger contracting environment. Similarly, Bassemir (2018) uses a large sample of German
private firms and documents that less than 10% of the sample adopt IFRS voluntarily. His findings
confirm that the decision to adopt IFRS is driven by firm factors like growth opportunities, leverage
and financing needs, external ratings, an international orientation, and high-quality auditors, and
suggest that the expected benefits and costs of IFRS adoption are not evenly distributed across
the subset of private firms. Guerreiro et al. (2015) use the introduction of the IFRS-based
Sistema de Normalização Contabilística for private firms in Portugal in 2010 for an interview-
based qualitative analysis of the institutional dynamics that drive changes in accounting rules.
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3.4.4.2. Consequences of voluntary IFRS adoption. Bassemir and Novotny-Farkas (2018)
analyze the effect of voluntary IFRS adoption on financial reporting quality. Based on
cluster analysis, they distinguish different groups of voluntary IFRS adopter and find an
improvement of financial reporting quality (measured as earnings smoothing, loss avoidance,
timely loss recognition), but only for growth firms that seek access to public equity markets,
though there is a uniform increase in disclosure for all voluntary IFRS adopters. Cameran
et al. (2014) study Italian private companies that switched to IFRS voluntarily from 2005 to
2008 and document that IFRS adoption did not improve reporting quality among private
companies but, on the contrary, decreased it. Balsmeier and Vanhaverbeke (2018) look at
the consequences of voluntary IFRS adoption and observe for a European sample of private
firms that voluntary IFRS adopters have more access to loans from foreign banks (while
IFRS adoption does not affect access to loans from domestic banks), but only in countries
with strong enforcement.

Cascino and Gassen (2015) analyze the effect of the IFRS introduction on financial state-
ment comparability. The exploit that private firms, in contrast to public firms, did not have to
adopt IFRS mandatorily in 2005, which enables them to use them as a within-country control
group that allows closer identification than cross-country comparisons of public firms. While
the overall effect on comparability among IFRS adopters seems marginal, Cascino and
Gassen (2015) also find that comparability between public and private firms is reduced
after mandating IFRS for public firms. Downes et al. (2018) find that European public
firms that were subject to mandatory IFRS reporting after 2005 exploit lower financing
costs to increase market shares relative to their private competitors that continue to report
under local GAAP.

3.4.5. Financial reporting and lending decisions

Donelson et al. (2017) provide explorative results of a survey on how commercial lenders
providing loans to private firms use financial information. Similarly, Minnis and Sutherland
(2017) use a dataset provided by the Sageworks Loan Administration platform to show how
banks monitor borrowers after loan origination to private borrowers. They find that demand
for financial statements is related to borrower credit risk, relationship length, and the presence
of collateral. Ding et al. (2016) show for a sample of Chinese private corporations that better
earnings quality improves a firms’ access to debt as well as loan conditions and that the
results are most pronounced for the least developed provinces. Lisowsky et al. (2017) use
a proprietary data set of private firms from the U.S. construction industry that are not
subject to a mandatory auditing requirement. The authors find that when the macroeconomic
environment is favourable for these firms, banks decrease the required level of assurance,
consistent with the idea that macroeconomic fluctuations affect the demand for financial
statement verification.

3.4.6. Other studies

The remaining studies in this section are diverse in their research questions and motivation for
using private firm data. Indjejikian and Matějka (2009) exploit that private firms in the U.S. do
not have to comply with the Sarbanes Oxley Act (SOX). Using survey results, they find that
public firms, relative to private firms, have lower CFO bonuses contingent on financial perform-
ance after the introduction of SOX. Kaya and Pronobis (2016) exploit the widespread voluntary
adoption of XBRL reporting among Belgian private firms to investigate the benefits of providing
structured data. They find that voluntary XBRL adopters pay lower interest rate spreads and also
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receive larger bank loans than non-adopters. Andries et al. (2017) also make use of a regulatory
change in Belgium and show that private firms engage in intertemporal income shifting after the
introduction of a tax allowance for corporate equity. Pierk and Weil (2016) exploit a major
change in German GAAP to document that rate-regulated firms in the private German utility
sector opportunistically opt for early adoption to increase allowed revenues. Finally, Back
(2005) uses data from a sample of randomly selected Finnish SMEs and finds that rather than
financial statement information, non-financial information on payment behaviour is particularly
predictive of future financial distress.

3.4.7. Research perspectives

Private firms provide promising research perspectives regarding more general research ques-
tions. First, private firms are an appealing laboratory to isolate specific reporting channels and
effects, as their overall simpler setup in terms of ownership, regulation, and stakeholder structure
is less affected by confounding mechanisms. For example, in the absence of strict insider trading
laws, private firms can be used to explore the role of informal communication and social insti-
tutions on, e.g. investment efficiency and capital allocation. As an illustration, Haselmann et al.
(2018) explore the ambiguous effect of executive membership in local elite clubs on banks’
lending decisions using German micro-level SME data. Similarly, due to their typically high
level of local embeddedness, private firms allow other insights into how institutional designs
at the region, province, or even municipality level shape firm’s decisions including their financial
reporting behaviour. In this regard, the sheer number of private firms also allows focusing on
very specific markets and industries to include institutional detail and control in the analysis.
Further, the private firm setting is particularly well-suited for certain alternative research
methods. For example, the large number and relative simplicity of private firms can allow for
large-sample field experiments (Gassen and Muhn 2018), and the less hierarchical setup of
many private firms makes it more likely to obtain organisational support for surveys, case
studies, or field experiments within individual firms.

Second, private firms can be studied to exploit unique regulatory settings. For instance,
Directive 2013/34/EU newly introduced the classification of certain firms as ‘micro’ entities
that changed the disclosure requirements for affected firms in all EU Member States. Similar
to Chi et al. (2013), this setting allows to investigate the effects of a reduction of mandatory dis-
closure (e.g. Gassen and Muhn 2018). Also, the European private firm setting offers numerous
opportunities to study the determinants and consequences of GAAP changes and to exploit cross-
country variation in local GAAP systems (while, comparable to the U.S., the mandatory intro-
duction of IFRS in 2005 has eliminated most cross-country variation among public firms).
Examples are the 2010 GAAP reform in Germany (BilMoG 2009; see Fülbier et al. 2017),
the 2016 GAAP reform in Italy (Legislative Decree n. 139; see Pietra 2017), or the 2016
GAAP reform in the UK (SI 2015/980; see Collis et al. 2017).

Third, few studies use private firms as a control group when studying, e.g. regulatory shocks
to public firms (Indjejikian and Matějka 2009, Cascino and Gassen 2015), and instead use public
firms from other countries, which requires strong assumptions about parallel trends and the
absence of confounding shocks to the control group. We suggest that researchers make more
common use of private firms as an additional within-country control group that allows
keeping the institutional context constant. As an example, private firms are a natural control
group when studying the introduction of mandatory audit firm rotation in Europe (Regulation
No 537/2014 of the European Parliament) or the introduction of mandatory CSR reporting
(Directive 2014/95/EU of the European Parliament).
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4. Conclusion

We provide an extensive guide to the field of accounting research on private firms with an empha-
sis on the European setting. First, we give an overview of financial reporting regulation for
private firms in Europe and delineate how this particularly rich institutional framework can be
used to identify promising research settings, but also has certain shortcomings. We also
discuss the availability of private firm accounting data and describe the underlying data generat-
ing process that links private firms’ original reporting, official and private data aggregators, and
the commercial databases often used in academic research. We conclude that while this process
yields insightful and promising data, at the same time it causes complex sample selection issues
and variation in data granularity that researchers should take into account both when assessing
prior findings and developing new research projects.

Second, we seek to identify thematic areas that are particularly promising for future work and
give a comprehensive review of the extant literature, covering a long time-series of 35 years of
accounting research on private firms. We focus on the higher-level takeaways regarding the three
main motivations for conducting private firm work: (i) to learn more about private firms per se,
(ii) to learn more about what distinguishes private firms from public firms, and (iii) to obtain
insights from private firms that generalise across all types of firms. For each of these aspects,
we highlight specific research areas that are not well understood yet, such as, for instance, the
role of accounting in the early (start-ups) and late (bankruptcy, exit) stages of the private firm
life cycle, the currently conflicting evidence regarding the relative accounting quality of
private and public firms, or the influence of non-investor stakeholders and supervisory insti-
tutions on private firm reporting. We also point at interesting regulatory shocks and settings
where the comparatively simple structure of private firms likely provides a cleaner research
design to study, e.g. the influence of social and local institutions.

Inevitably, such a review of the literature is to some extent subjective and can only reflect a
snapshot in time. Further, our focus on accounting journals might incompletely cover relevant
contributions from neighbouring fields to the extent that they have not had substantial impact
on the mainstream accounting literature. To overcome some of these limitations, we provide
an openly accessible online app (https://trr266.de/pfirmacclit) that allows interested readers to
take their own dip into the literature. We hope that such an online extension increases the flexi-
bility and accessibility of our work. Maintaining the app and its underlying data in the future will
allow creating an interactive online hub for private firm accounting research.

Acknowledgements
The authors appreciate helpful comments from Mark Clatworthy and Michael Minnis.

Data availability

Online application featuring the repository of studies used: https://trr266.de/pfirmacclit.

Disclosure statement
No potential conflict of interest was reported by the author(s).

Funding
Joachim Gassen acknowledges financial support from Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft – Project-ID
403041268 – TRR 266.

34 C. Beuselinck et al.

https://trr266.de/pfirmacclit
https://trr266.de/pfirmacclit


Supplemental data
Supplemental data for this article can be accessed at https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2021.1982670.

Online application featuring the repository of studies used: https://trr266.de/pfirmacclit.

ORCID

Joachim Gassen http://orcid.org/0000-0003-4364-2911

References
Abdel-Khalik, A. Rashad, 1993. Why do private companies demand auditing? A case for organizational

loss of control. Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 8 (1), 31–52. doi:10.1177/
0148558X9300800103.

Accountancy Europe, 2020. Audit exemption thresholds in Europe: 2020 survey update. 2020. https://www.
accountancyeurope.eu/wp-content/uploads/Accountancy-Europe_Audit-exemption-thresholds-in-Eur
ope_2020_survey-update.pdf.

Aerts, Walter, 2005. Picking up the pieces: impression management in the retrospective attributional
framing of accounting outcomes. Accounting, Organizations and Society, 30 (6), 493–517. doi:10.
1016/j.aos.2004.07.001.

Ajona, Laura Arnedo, Dallo, Fermín Lizarraga, and Alegría, Santiago Sánchez, 2008. Discretionary
accruals and auditor behaviour in code-law contexts: an application to failing Spanish firms.
European Accounting Review, 17 (4), 641–666. doi:10.1080/09638180802172479.

Alhadab, Mohammad, Clacher, Iain, and Keasey, Kevin, 2015. Real and accrual earnings management and
IPO failure risk. Accounting and Business Research, 45 (1), 55–92. doi:10.1080/00014788.2014.969187.

Allee, Kristian D., and Wangerin, Daniel D., 2018. Auditor monitoring and verification in financial con-
tracts: evidence from earnouts and SFAS 141(R). Review of Accounting Studies, 23 (4), 1629–1664.
doi:10.1007/s11142-018-9472-0.

Allee, Kristian D., and Yohn, Teri Lombardi, 2009. The demand for financial statements in an unregulated
environment: an examination of the production and use of financial statements by privately held small
businesses. The Accounting Review, 84 (1), 1–25.

André, Paul, 2017. The role and current status of IFRS in the completion of national accounting rules –
evidence from European countries. Accounting in Europe, 14 (1–2), 1–12. doi:10.1080/17449480.
2017.1319965.

Andries, Kathleen, Cools, Martine, and Van Uytbergen, Steve, 2017. To shift or not to shift? Intertemporal
income shifting as a response to the risk capital allowance introduction in Belgium. European
Accounting Review, 26 (3), 531–559. doi:10.1080/09638180.2016.1202854.

Armstrong, Chris, Davila, Antonio, and Foster, George, 2006. Venture-backed private equity valuation and
financial statement information. Review of Accounting Studies, 11 (1), 119–154. doi:10.1007/s11142-
006-6398-8.

Armstrong, Christopher S., Dávila, Antonio, Foster, George, and Hand, John R. M., 2007. Biases in multi-
year management financial forecasts: evidence from private venture-backed U.S. companies. Review of
Accounting Studies, 12 (2–3), 183–215. doi:10.1007/s11142-007-9033-4.

Back, Peter, 2005. Explaining financial difficulties based on previous payment behavior, management back-
ground variables and financial ratios. European Accounting Review, 14 (4), 839–868. doi:10.1080/
09638180500141339.

Badertscher, Brad, Jorgensen, Bjorn, Katz, Sharon, and Kinney, William, 2014. Public equity and audit
pricing in the United States. Journal of Accounting Research, 52 (2), 303–339. doi:10.1111/1475-
679X.12041.

Ball, Ray, and Shivakumar, Lakshmanan, 2005. Earnings quality in UK private firms: comparative loss rec-
ognition timeliness. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 39 (1), 83–128. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2004.
04.001.

Ball, Ray, and Shivakumar, Lakshmanan, 2008. Earnings quality at initial public offerings. Journal of
Accounting and Economics, 45 (2–3), 324–349. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2007.12.001.

Balsmeier, Benjamin, and Vanhaverbeke, Steven, 2018. International financial reporting standards and
private firms’ access to bank loans. European Accounting Review, 27 (1), 75–104. doi:10.1080/
09638180.2016.1229207.

Accounting and Business Research 35

https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2021.1982670
https://trr266.de/pfirmacclit.
http://orcid.org/0000-0003-4364-2911
https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X9300800103
https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X9300800103
https://www.accountancyeurope.eu/wp-content/uploads/Accountancy-Europe_Audit-exemption-thresholds-in-Europe_2020_survey-update.pdf
https://www.accountancyeurope.eu/wp-content/uploads/Accountancy-Europe_Audit-exemption-thresholds-in-Europe_2020_survey-update.pdf
https://www.accountancyeurope.eu/wp-content/uploads/Accountancy-Europe_Audit-exemption-thresholds-in-Europe_2020_survey-update.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aos.2004.07.001
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aos.2004.07.001
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180802172479
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2014.969187
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-018-9472-0
https://doi.org/10.1080/17449480.2017.1319965
https://doi.org/10.1080/17449480.2017.1319965
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2016.1202854
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-006-6398-8
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-006-6398-8
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-007-9033-4
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180500141339
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180500141339
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12041
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12041
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2004.04.001
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2004.04.001
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2007.12.001
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2016.1229207
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2016.1229207


Bar-Yosef, Sasson, D’Augusta, Carlo, and Prencipe, Annalisa, 2019. Accounting research on private firms:
state of the art and future directions. The International Journal of Accounting, 54 (02), 1950007. doi:10.
1142/S1094406019500070.

Bassemir, Moritz, 2018. Why do private firms adopt IFRS? Accounting and Business Research, 48 (3),
237–263. doi:10.1080/00014788.2017.1357459.

Bassemir, Moritz, and Novotny-Farkas, Zoltán, 2018. IFRS adoption, reporting incentives and financial
reporting quality in private firms. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 45 (7–8), 759–796.
doi:10.1111/jbfa.12315.

Beatty, Anne, and Harris, David G., 1998. The effects of taxes, agency costs and information asymmetry on
earnings management: a comparison of public and private firms. Review of Accounting Studies, 4 (3),
299–326. doi:10.1023/A:1009642403312.

Beatty, Anne L., Ke, Bin, and Petroni, Kathy R., 2002. Earnings management to avoid earnings declines
across pubicily and privately held banks. The Accounting Review; Sarasota, 77 (3), 547–570.
doi:10.2308/accr.2002.77.3.547.

Beatty, Anne, and Liao, Scott, 2014. Financial accounting in the banking industry: a review of the empirical
literature. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 58 (2), 339–383. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2014.08.009.

Beaver, William H., McNichols, Maureen F., and Nelson, Karen K., 2003. Management of the loss reserve
accrual and the distribution of earnings in the property-casualty insurance industry. Journal of
Accounting and Economics, 35 (3), 347–376. doi:10.1016/S0165-4101(03)00037-5.

Bell, Timothy B., Causholli, Monika, and Knechel, W. Robert, 2015. Audit firm tenure, non-audit services,
and internal assessments of audit quality. Journal of Accounting Research, 53 (3), 461–509. doi:10.
1111/1475-679X.12078.

Bernard, Darren, 2016. Is the risk of product market predation a cost of disclosure? Journal of Accounting
and Economics, 62 (2–3), 305–325. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2016.07.001.

Bernard, Darren, Burgstahler, David, and Kaya, Devrimi, 2018. Size management by European private
firms to minimize proprietary costs of disclosure. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 66 (1), 94–
122. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2018.03.001.

Beuselinck, Christof, Cascino, Stefano, Deloof, Marc, and Vanstraelen, Ann, 2019. Earnings management
within multinational corporations. The Accounting Review, 94 (4), 45–76. doi:10.2308/accr-52274.

Beuselinck, Christof, Deloof, Marc, and Manigart, Sophie, 2008. Private equity investments and disclosure
policy. European Accounting Review, 17 (4), 607–639. doi:10.1080/09638180802327057.

Beuselinck, Christof, Deloof, Marc, and Manigart, Sophie, 2009. Private equity involvement and earnings
quality. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 36 (5–6), 587–615. doi:10.1111/j.1468-5957.2009.
02147.x.

Beuselinck, Christof, Deloof, Marc, and Vanstraelen, Ann, 2015. Cross-jurisdictional income shifting and
tax enforcement: evidence from public versus private multinationals. Review of Accounting Studies, 20
(2), 710–746. doi:10.1007/s11142-014-9310-y.

Bigus, Jochen, Georgiou, Nadine, and Schorn, Philipp, 2016. Legal form and earnings properties. European
Accounting Review, 25 (3), 515–548. doi:10.1080/09638180.2015.1051566.

Bigus, Jochen, and Häfele, Stefanie, 2018. Shareholder loans and earnings smoothing – empirical findings
from German private firms. European Accounting Review, 27 (1), 37–74. doi:10.1080/09638180.2016.
1229206.

Bigus, Jochen, and Hillebrand, Christa, 2017. Bank relationships and private firms’ financial reporting
quality. European Accounting Review, 26 (2), 379–409. doi:10.1080/09638180.2016.1152906.

Blackwell, David W., Noland, Thomas R., and Winters, Drew B., 1998. The value of auditor
assurance: evidence from loan pricing. Journal of Accounting Research, 36 (1), 57–70. doi:10.2307/
2491320.

Bonacchi, Massimiliano, Marra, Antonio, and Zarowin, Paul, 2019. Organizational structure and earnings
quality of private and public firms. Review of Accounting Studies, 24 (3), 1066–1113. doi:10.1007/
s11142-019-09495-y.

Bourveau, Thomas, Chen, Jason V., Elfers, Ferdinand, and Pierk, Jochen, 2020. Public peers, accounting
comparability, and value relevance of private firms’ financial reporting. SSRN Scholarly Paper ID
3576389. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3576389.

Breuer, Matthias, Hombach, Katharina, and Müller, Maximilian A., 2018. How does financial reporting
regulation affect firms’ banking? The Review of Financial Studies, 31 (4), 1265–1297. doi:10.1093/
rfs/hhx123.

36 C. Beuselinck et al.

https://doi.org/10.1142/S1094406019500070
https://doi.org/10.1142/S1094406019500070
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2017.1357459
https://doi.org/10.1111/jbfa.12315
https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1009642403312
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2002.77.3.547
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2014.08.009
https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-4101(03)00037-5
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12078
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12078
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2016.07.001
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2018.03.001
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr-52274
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180802327057
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5957.2009.02147.x
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5957.2009.02147.x
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-014-9310-y
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2015.1051566
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2016.1229206
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2016.1229206
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2016.1152906
https://doi.org/10.2307/2491320
https://doi.org/10.2307/2491320
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-019-09495-y
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-019-09495-y
https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3576389
https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhx123
https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhx123


Brivot, Marion, Roussy, Mélanie, and Mayer, Maryse, 2018. Conventions of audit quality: the perspective
of public and private company audit partners. Auditing: A Journal of Practice & Theory, 37 (2), 51–71.
doi:10.2308/ajpt-51772.

Burgstahler, David C., Hail, Luzi, and Leuz, Christian, 2006. The importance of reporting incentives: earn-
ings management in European private and public firms. The Accounting Review, 81 (5), 983–1016.
doi:10.2308/accr.2006.81.5.983.

Cameran, Mara, Campa, Domenico, and Pettinicchio, Angela, 2014. IFRS adoption among private compa-
nies: impact on earnings quality. Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 29 (3), 278–305. doi:10.
1177/0148558X14534260.

Cano-Rodríguez, Manuel, 2010. Big auditors, private firms and accounting conservatism: Spanish evi-
dence. European Accounting Review, 19 (1), 131–159. doi:10.1080/09638180902989426.

Carcello, Joseph V., Vanstraelen, Ann, and Willenborg, Michael, 2009. Rules rather than discretion in audit
standards: going-concern opinions in Belgium. The Accounting Review, 84 (5), 1395–1428. doi:10.
2308/accr.2009.84.5.1395.

Carey, Peter, and Guest, Ross, 2000. Determining the optimal external audit interval for private (and family-
controlled) companies. Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 15 (4), 439–458. doi:10.1177/
0148558X0001500404.

Cascino, Stefano, and Gassen, Joachim, 2015. What drives the comparability effect of mandatory IFRS
adoption? Review of Accounting Studies, 20 (1), 242–282. doi:10.1007/s11142-014-9296-5.

Cassar, Gavin, 2009. Financial statement and projection preparation in start-up ventures. The Accounting
Review, 84 (1), 27–51. doi:10.2308/accr.2009.84.1.27.

Cassar, Gavin, and Gibson, Brian, 2008. Budgets, internal reports, and manager forecast accuracy.
Contemporary Accounting Research, 25 (3), 707–738. doi:10.1506/car.25.3.3.

Cassar, Gavin, Ittner, Christopher D., and Cavalluzzo, Ken S., 2015. Alternative information sources and
information asymmetry reduction: evidence from small business debt. Journal of Accounting and
Economics, 59 (2–3), 242–263. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2014.08.003.

Chaney, Paul K., Jeter, Debra C., and Shivakumar, Lakshmanan, 2004. Self-selection of auditors and audit
pricing in private firms. The Accounting Review, 79 (1), 51–72. doi:10.2308/accr.2004.79.1.51.

Chen, Ciao-Wei, 2019. The disciplinary role of financial statements: evidence from mergers and acqui-
sitions of privately held targets. Journal of Accounting Research. doi:10.1111/1475-679X.12256.

Chen, Feng, Hope, Ole-Kristian, Li, Qingyuan, and Wang, Xin, 2011. Financial reporting quality
and investment efficiency of private firms in emerging markets. The Accounting Review, 86 (4),
1255–1288.

Chen, Shuping, Miao, Bin, and Shevlin, Terry, 2015. A new measure of disclosure quality: the level of dis-
aggregation of accounting data in annual reports. Journal of Accounting Research, 53 (5), 1017–1054.
doi:10.1111/1475-679X.12094.

Chi, Wuchun, Dhaliwal, Dan, Li, Oliver Zhen, and Lin, Tzong-Huei, 2013. Voluntary reporting incentives
and reporting quality: evidence from a reporting regime change for private firms in Taiwan.
Contemporary Accounting Research, 30 (4), 1462–1489. doi:10.1111/1911-3846.12003.

Chi, Wuchun, Douthett, Edward B., and Lisic, Ling Lei, 2012. Client importance and audit partner indepen-
dence. Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 31 (3), 320–336. doi:10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2011.08.
009.

Clatworthy, Mark A., and Peel, Michael J., 2007. The effect of corporate status on external audit fees: evi-
dence from the UK. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 34 (1–2), 169–201. doi:10.1111/j.
1468-5957.2006.00658.x.

Clatworthy, Mark A., and Peel, Michael J., 2013. The impact of voluntary audit and governance character-
istics on accounting errors in private companies. Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 32 (3), 1–25.
doi:10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2013.02.005.

Clatworthy, Mark A., and Peel, Michael J., 2016. The timeliness of UK private company financial reporting:
regulatory and economic influences. The British Accounting Review, 48 (3), 297–315. doi:10.1016/j.
bar.2016.05.001.

Cloyd, C. Bryan, Pratt, Jamie, and Stock, Toby, 1996. The use of financial accounting choice to support
aggressive tax positions: public and private firms. Journal of Accounting Research, 34 (1), 23.
doi:10.2307/2491330.

Collis, Jill, 2012. Determinants of voluntary audit and voluntary full accounts in micro- and non- micro
small companies in the UK. Accounting and Business Research, 42 (4), 441–468. doi:10.1080/
00014788.2012.667969.

Accounting and Business Research 37

https://doi.org/10.2308/ajpt-51772
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2006.81.5.983
https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X14534260
https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X14534260
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180902989426
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2009.84.5.1395
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2009.84.5.1395
https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X0001500404
https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X0001500404
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-014-9296-5
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2009.84.1.27
https://doi.org/10.1506/car.25.3.3
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2014.08.003
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2004.79.1.51
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12256
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12094
https://doi.org/10.1111/1911-3846.12003
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2011.08.009
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2011.08.009
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5957.2006.00658.x
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5957.2006.00658.x
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2013.02.005
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bar.2016.05.001
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bar.2016.05.001
https://doi.org/10.2307/2491330
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2012.667969
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2012.667969


Collis, Jill, Jarvis, Robin, and Skerratt, Len, 2004. The demand for the audit in Small companies in the UK.
Accounting and Business Research, 34 (2), 87–100. doi:10.1080/00014788.2004.9729955.

Collis, Jill, Jarvis, Robin, and Skerratt, Len, 2017. The role and current status of IFRS in the completion of
national accounting rules – evidence from the UK. Accounting in Europe, 14 (1–2), 235–247. doi:10.
1080/17449480.2017.1300673.

Corten, Maarten, Steijvers, Tensie, and Lybaert, Nadine, 2015. The demand for auditor services in wholly
family-owned private firms: the moderating role of generation. Accounting and Business Research, 45
(1), 1–26. doi:10.1080/00014788.2014.959462.

Council of the European Union, 1978. Fourth Council Directive 78/660/EEC of 25 July 1978 Based on
Article 54 (3) (g) of the Treaty on the Annual Accounts of Certain Types of Companies. http://data.
europa.eu/eli/dir/1978/660/oj/eng.

Council of the European Union, 1983. Seventh Council Directive 83/349/EEC of 13 June 1983 Based on the
Article 54 (3) (g) of the Treaty on Consolidated Accounts. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/1983/349/oj/eng.

Davila, Antonio, and Foster, George, 2005. Management accounting systems adoption decisions: evidence
and performance implications from early-stage/startup companies. The Accounting Review, 80 (4),
1039–1068. doi:10.2308/accr.2005.80.4.1039.

Davila, Antonio, and Foster, George, 2007. Management control systems in early-stage startup companies.
The Accounting Review, 82 (4), 907–937. doi:10.2308/accr.2007.82.4.907.

Davila, Antonio, Foster, George, and Jia, Ning, 2015. The valuation of management control systems in
start-up companies: international field-based evidence. European Accounting Review, 24 (2), 207–
239. doi:10.1080/09638180.2014.965720.

De Franco, Gus, Gavious, Ilanit, Jin, Justin Y., and Richardson, Gordon D., 2011. Do private company
targets that hire big 4 auditors receive higher proceeds? Contemporary Accounting Research, 28 (1),
215–262. doi:10.1111/j.1911-3846.2010.01047.x.

De Meyere, Michiel, Van der Bauwhede, Heidi, and Van Cauwenberge, Philippe, 2018. The impact of finan-
cial reporting quality on debt maturity: the case of private firms. Accounting and Business Research, 48
(7), 759–781. doi:10.1080/00014788.2018.1431103.

De Simone, Lisa, 2016. Does a common set of accounting standards affect tax-motivated income shifting
for multinational firms? Journal of Accounting and Economics, 61 (1), 145–165. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.
2015.06.002.

Dedman, Elisabeth, and Kausar, Asad, 2012. The impact of voluntary audit on credit ratings: evidence from
UK private firms. Accounting and Business Research, 42 (4), 397–418. doi:10.1080/00014788.2012.
653761.

Dedman, Elisabeth, Kausar, Asad, and Lennox, Clive, 2014. The demand for audit in private firms: recent
large-sample evidence from the UK. European Accounting Review, 23 (1), 1–23. doi:10.1080/
09638180.2013.776298.

Dedman, Elisabeth, and Lennox, Clive, 2009. Perceived competition, profitability and the withholding of
information about sales and the cost of sales. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 48 (2–3), 210–
230. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2009.07.003.

Dekeyser, Simon, Gaeremynck, Ann, and Willekens, Marleen, 2018. Evidence of industry scale effects on
audit hours, billing rates, and pricing: evidence of industry scale effects on audit hours, billing rates, and
pricing. Contemporary Accounting Research. doi:10.1111/1911-3846.12460.

DiGabriele, James A, 2008. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the private company discount: an empirical inves-
tigation. Critical Perspectives on Accounting, 19 (8), 1105–1121. doi:10.1016/j.cpa.2007.03.005.

Ding, Shujun, Liu, Mingzhi, and Wu, Zhenyu, 2016. Financial reporting quality and external debt financing
constraints: the case of privately held firms. Abacus, 52 (3), 351–373. doi:10.1111/abac.12083.

Donelson, Dain C., Jennings, Ross, and Mcinnis, John, 2017. Financial statement quality and debt contract-
ing: evidence from a survey of commercial lenders. Contemporary Accounting Research, 34 (4), 2051–
2093. doi:10.1111/1911-3846.12345.

Downes, Jimmy F., Flagmeier, Vanessa, and Godsell, David, 2018. Product market effects of IFRS
adoption. Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 37 (5), 376–401. doi:10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2018.
09.004.

Elnathan, Dan, Gavious, Ilanit, and Hauser, Shmuel, 2010. An analysis of private versus public firm valua-
tions and the contribution of financial experts. The International Journal of Accounting, 45 (4), 387–
412. doi:10.1016/j.intacc.2010.09.001.

Esplin, Adam, Jamal, Karim, and Sunder, Shyam, 2018. Demand for and assessment of audit quality in
private companies. Abacus, 54 (3), 319–352. doi:10.1111/abac.12138.

38 C. Beuselinck et al.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2004.9729955
https://doi.org/10.1080/17449480.2017.1300673
https://doi.org/10.1080/17449480.2017.1300673
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2014.959462
http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/1978/660/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/1978/660/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/1983/349/oj/eng
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2005.80.4.1039
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2007.82.4.907
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2014.965720
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1911-3846.2010.01047.x
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2018.1431103
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2015.06.002
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2015.06.002
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2012.653761
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2012.653761
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2013.776298
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2013.776298
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2009.07.003
https://doi.org/10.1111/1911-3846.12460
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpa.2007.03.005
https://doi.org/10.1111/abac.12083
https://doi.org/10.1111/1911-3846.12345
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2018.09.004
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2018.09.004
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intacc.2010.09.001
https://doi.org/10.1111/abac.12138


European Parliament, 2002. Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council
of 19 July 2002 on the Application of International Accounting Standards. http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/
2002/1606/oj/eng.

European Parliament, 2004. Directive 2004/109/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15
December 2004 on the Harmonisation of Transparency Requirements in Relation to Information about
Issuers Whose Securities Are Admitted to Trading on a Regulated Market and Amending Directive
2001/34/EC. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2004/109/oj/eng.

European Parliament, 2009. Directive 2009/101/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16
September 2009 on Coordination of Safeguards Which, for the Protection of the Interests of Members
and Third Parties, Are Required by Member States of Companies within the Meaning of the Second
Paragraph of Article 48 of the Treaty, with a View to Making Such Safeguards Equivalent (Text with
EEA Relevance). 258. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2009/101/oj/eng.

European Parliament, 2013. Directive 2013/34/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26
June 2013 on the Annual Financial Statements, Consolidated Financial Statements and Related
Reports of Certain Types of Undertakings, Amending Directive 2006/43/EC of the European
Parliament and of the Council and Repealing Council Directives 78/660/EEC and 83/349/EEC Text
with EEA Relevance. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2013/34/oj/eng.

European Parliament, 2014a. Directive 2014/56/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16
April 2014 Amending Directive 2006/43/EC on Statutory Audits of Annual Accounts and Consolidated
Accounts Text with EEA Relevance. Vol. 158. http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2014/56/oj/eng.

European Parliament, 2014b. Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council
of 16 April 2014 on Specific Requirements Regarding Statutory Audit of Public-Interest Entities and
Repealing Commission Decision 2005/909/EC Text with EEA Relevance. http://data.europa.eu/eli/
reg/2014/537/oj/eng.

European Parliament, 2014c. Directive 2014/95/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22
October 2014 Amending Directive 2013/34/EU as Regards Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity
Information by Certain Large Undertakings and Groups Text with EEA Relevance. Vol. 330. http://data.
europa.eu/eli/dir/2014/95/oj/eng.

Fan, Qintao, 2007. Earnings management and ownership retention for initial public offering firms: theory
and evidence. The Accounting Review, 82 (1), 27–64. doi:10.2308/accr.2007.82.1.27.

Fortin, Steve, and Pittman, Jeffrey A., 2007. The role of auditor choice in debt pricing in private firms.
Contemporary Accounting Research, 24 (3), 859–896. doi:10.1506/car.24.3.8.

Francis, Jere R., Khurana, Inder K., Martin, Xiumin, and Pereira, Raynolde, 2008. The role of firm-specific
incentives and country factors in explaining voluntary IAS adoptions: evidence from private firms.
European Accounting Review, 17 (2), 331–360. doi:10.1080/09638180701819899.

Francis, Jere R., Khurana, Inder K., Martin, Xiumin, and Pereira, Raynolde, 2011. The relative importance
of firm incentives versus country factors in the demand for assurance services by private entities.
Contemporary Accounting Research, 28 (2), 487–516. doi:10.1111/j.1911-3846.2010.01053.x.

Fülbier, Rolf Uwe, Pelger, Christoph, Kuntner, Evamaria, and Bravidor, Marcus, 2017. The role and current
status of IFRS in the completion of national accounting rules – evidence from Austria and Germany.
Accounting in Europe, 14 (1–2), 13–28. doi:10.1080/17449480.2017.1298139.

Gaeremynck, Ann, Van Der Meulen, Sofie, and Willekens, Marleen, 2008. Audit-firm portfolio character-
istics and client financial reporting quality. European Accounting Review, 17 (2), 243–270. doi:10.1080/
09638180701705932.

Gaeremynck, Ann, and Willekens, Marleen, 2003. The endogenous relationship between audit-report type
and business termination: evidence on private firms in a non-litigious environment. Accounting and
Business Research, 33 (1), 65–79. doi:10.1080/00014788.2003.9729632.

Garrod, Neil, Kosi, Urska, and Valentincic, Aljosa, 2008. Asset write-offs in the absence of agency pro-
blems. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 35 (3–4), 307–330. doi:10.1111/j.1468-5957.
2008.02078.x.

Gassen, Joachim, 2017. The effect of IFRS for SMEs on the financial reporting environment of private
firms: an exploratory interview study. Accounting and Business Research, 47 (5), 540–563. doi:10.
1080/00014788.2017.1314105.

Gassen, Joachim, and Fülbier, Rolf Uwe, 2015. Do creditors prefer smooth earnings? Evidence from
European private firms. Journal of International Accounting Research, 14 (2), 151–180. doi:10.
2308/jiar-51130.

Accounting and Business Research 39

http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2002/1606/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2002/1606/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2004/109/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2009/101/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2013/34/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2014/56/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2014/537/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2014/537/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2014/95/oj/eng
http://data.europa.eu/eli/dir/2014/95/oj/eng
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2007.82.1.27
https://doi.org/10.1506/car.24.3.8
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180701819899
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1911-3846.2010.01053.x
https://doi.org/10.1080/17449480.2017.1298139
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180701705932
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180701705932
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2003.9729632
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5957.2008.02078.x
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5957.2008.02078.x
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2017.1314105
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2017.1314105
https://doi.org/10.2308/jiar-51130
https://doi.org/10.2308/jiar-51130


Gassen, Joachim, and Muhn, Maximilian, 2018. Financial transparency of private firms: evidence from a
randomized field experiment. SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 3290710. Rochester, NY: Social Science
Research Network. https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3290710.

Givoly, Dan, Hayn, Carla K., and Katz, Sharon P., 2010. Does public ownership of equity improve earnings
quality? The Accounting Review; Sarasota, 85 (1), 195–225. doi:10.2308/accr.2010.85.1.195.

Gormley, Todd A., Kim, Bong Hwan, and Martin, Xiumin, 2012. Do firms adjust their timely loss recog-
nition in response to changes in the banking industry? Journal of Accounting Research, 50 (1), 159–
196. doi:10.1111/j.1475-679X.2011.00429.x.

Guerreiro, Marta Silva, Rodrigues, Lúcia Lima, and Craig, Russell, 2012. Voluntary adoption of inter-
national financial reporting standards by large unlisted companies in Portugal – institutional logics
and strategic responses. Accounting, Organizations and Society, 37 (7), 482–499. doi:10.1016/j.aos.
2012.05.003.

Guerreiro, Marta Silva, Rodrigues, Lúcia Lima, and Craig, Russell, 2015. Institutional change of account-
ing systems: the adoption of a regime of adapted international financial reporting standards. European
Accounting Review, 24 (2), 379–409. doi:10.1080/09638180.2014.887477.

Habib, A., Ranasinghe, D., and Huang, H. J., 2018. A literature survey of financial reporting in private
firms. Research in Accounting Regulation, 30 (1), 31–37. doi:10.1016/j.racreg.2018.03.005.

Haga, Jesper, Höglund, Henrik, and Sundvik, Dennis, 2018. Stock market listing status and real earnings
management. Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 37 (5), 420–435. doi:10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.
2018.09.002.

Hall, Curtis M., 2016. Does ownership structure affect labor decisions? Accounting Review, 91 (6), 1671–
1696. doi:10.2308/accr-51384.

Hand, John R. M., 2005. The value relevance of financial statements in the venture capital market. The
Accounting Review, 80 (2), 613–648. doi:10.2308/accr.2005.80.2.613.

Haselmann, Rainer, Schoenherr, David, and Vig, Vikrant, 2018. Rent seeking in elite networks. Journal of
Political Economy, 126 (4), 1638–1690. doi:10.1086/697742.

Haw, In-Mu, Lee, Jay Junghun, and Lee, Woo-Jong, 2014. Debt financing and accounting conservatism in
private firms. Contemporary Accounting Research, 31 (4), 1220–1259. doi:10.1111/1911-3846.12064.

Hoopes, Jeffrey L., Robinson, Leslie, and Slemrod, Joel, 2018. Public tax-return disclosure. Journal of
Accounting and Economics, 66 (1), 142–162. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2018.04.001.

Hope, Ole-Kristian, and Langli, John Christian, 2010. Auditor independence in a private firm and low liti-
gation risk setting. The Accounting Review, 85 (2), 573–605. doi:10.2308/accr.2010.85.2.573.

Hope, Ole-Kristian, Langli, John Christian, and Thomas, Wayne B., 2012. Agency conflicts and auditing in
private firms. Accounting, Organizations and Society, 37 (7), 500–517. doi:10.1016/j.aos.2012.06.002.

Hope, Ole-Kristian, Thomas, Wayne B., and Vyas, Dushyantkumar, 2013. Financial reporting quality of
U.S. private and public firms. The Accounting Review, 88 (5), 1715–1742. doi:10.2308/accr-50494.

Hope, Ole-Kristian, Thomas, Wayne B., and Vyas, Dushyantkumar, 2017. Stakeholder demand for account-
ing quality and economic usefulness of accounting in U.S. private firms. Journal of Accounting and
Public Policy, 36 (1), 1–13. doi:10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2016.11.004.

Hope, Ole-Kristian, and Vyas, Dushyantkumar, 2017. Private company finance and financial reporting.
Accounting and Business Research, 47 (5), 506–537. doi:10.1080/00014788.2017.1303963.

Indjejikian, Raffi, and Matějka, Michal, 2009. CFO fiduciary responsibilities and annual bonus incentives.
Journal of Accounting Research, 47 (4), 1061–1093. doi:10.1111/j.1475- 679X.2009.00343.x.

Kalemli-Ozcan, Sebnem, Sørensen, Bent E., Villegas-Sanchez, Carolina, Volosovych, Vadym, and Yesiltas,
Sevcan, 2015. How to construct nationally representative firm level data from the ORBIS global data-
base: new facts and aggregate implications. SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2660017. Rochester, NY: Social
Science Research Network. https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=2660017.

Kausar, Asad, Shroff, Nemit, and White, Hal, 2016. Real effects of the audit choice. Journal of Accounting
and Economics, 62 (1), 157–181. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2015.10.001.

Kaya, Devrimi, and Koch, Maximilian, 2015. Countries’ adoption of the international financial reporting
standard for small and medium-sized entities (IFRS for SMEs) – early empirical evidence.
Accounting and Business Research, 45 (1), 93–120. doi:10.1080/00014788.2014.969188.

Kaya, Devrimi, and Pronobis, Paul, 2016. The benefits of structured data across the information supply
chain: Initial evidence on XBRL adoption and loan contracting of private firms. Journal of
Accounting and Public Policy, 35 (4), 417–436. doi:10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2016.04.003.

Kim, Jeong-Bon, Simunic, Dan A., Stein, Michael T., and Yi, Cheong H., 2011. Voluntary audits and the
cost of debt capital for privately held firms: Korean evidence. Contemporary Accounting Research, 28
(2), 585–615. doi:10.1111/j.1911-3846.2010.01054.x.

40 C. Beuselinck et al.

https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3290710
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2010.85.1.195
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-679X.2011.00429.x
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aos.2012.05.003
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aos.2012.05.003
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2014.887477
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.racreg.2018.03.005
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2018.09.002
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2018.09.002
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr-51384
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2005.80.2.613
https://doi.org/10.1086/697742
https://doi.org/10.1111/1911-3846.12064
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2018.04.001
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2010.85.2.573
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aos.2012.06.002
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr-50494
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2016.11.004
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2017.1303963
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475- 679X.2009.00343.x
https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=2660017
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2015.10.001
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2014.969188
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2016.04.003
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1911-3846.2010.01054.x


Kim, Jeong-Bon, and Yi, Cheong H., 2006. Ownership structure, business group affiliation, listing status,
and earnings management: evidence from Korea. Contemporary Accounting Research, 23 (2), 427–
464. doi:10.1506/7T5B-72FV-MHJV-E697.

Kleymenova, Anya, and Tomy, Rimmy E., 2021. Observing enforcement: evidence from banking. SSRN
Scholarly Paper ID 3327502. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3327502.

Kosi, Urska, and Valentincic, Aljosa, 2013. Write-offs and profitability in private firms: disentangling the
impact of tax-minimisation incentives. European Accounting Review, 22 (1), 117–150. doi:10.1080/
09638180.2012.661938.

Laschewski, Christian, and Nasev, Julia, 2017. Disclosure enforcement consequences – evidence from
Germany. SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2977888. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network.
doi:10.2139/ssrn.2977888.

Lennox, Clive, 2005. Management ownership and audit firm size. Contemporary Accounting Research, 22
(1), 205–227. doi:10.1506/K2CG-U6V0-NPTC-EQBK.

Lennox, Clive, and Li, Bing, 2012. The consequences of protecting audit partners’ personal assets from the
threat of liability. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 54 (2–3), 154–173. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.
2012.06.002.

Lennox, Clive S, and Pittman, Jeffrey A, 2011. Voluntary audits versus mandatory audits. The Accounting
Review, 86 (5), 1655–1678. doi:10.2308/accr-10098.

Lin, Kenny Z., Mills, Lillian F., and Zhang, Fang, 2013. Public versus private firm responses to the tax rate
reduction in China. The Journal of the American Taxation Association, 36 (1), 137–163. doi:10.2308/
atax-50618.

Lisowsky, Petro, and Minnis, Michael, 2020. The silent majority: private U.S. firms and financial reporting
choices. Journal of Accounting Research, 58 (3), 547–588. doi:10.1111/1475-679X.12306.

Lisowsky, Petro, Minnis, Michael, and Sutherland, Andrew, 2017. Economic growth and financial state-
ment verification. Journal of Accounting Research, 55 (4), 745–794. doi:10.1111/1475-679X.12165.

Mafrolla, Elisabetta, and D’Amico, Eugenio, 2017. Borrowing capacity and earnings management: an
analysis of private loans in private firms. Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 36 (4), 284–301.
doi:10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2017.05.001.

Markle, Kevin, 2016. A comparison of the tax-motivated income shifting of multinationals in territorial and
worldwide countries. Contemporary Accounting Research, 33 (1), 7–43. doi:10.1111/1911-3846.12148.

Markle, Kevin S., and Shackelford, Douglas A., 2012. Cross-country comparisons of corporate income
taxes. National Tax Journal, 65 (3), 493–527.

Mills, Lillian F., and Newberry, Kaye J., 2001. The influence of tax and nontax costs on book-tax reporting
differences: public and private firms. Journal of the American Taxation Association, 23 (1), 1–19.
doi:10.2308/jata.2001.23.1.1.

Minnis, Michael, 2011. The value of financial statement verification in debt financing: evidence from private
U.S. firms. Journal of Accounting Research, 49 (2), 457–506. doi:10.1111/j.1475-679X.2011.00411.x.

Minnis, Michael, and Shroff, Nemit, 2017. Why regulate private firm disclosure and auditing? Accounting
and Business Research, 47 (5), 473–502. doi:10.1080/00014788.2017.1303962.

Minnis, Michael, and Sutherland, Andrew, 2017. Financial statements as monitoring mechanisms: evidence
from small commercial loans. Journal of Accounting Research, 55 (1), 197–233. doi:10.1111/1475-
679X.12127.

Nichols, D. Craig, Wahlen, James M., and Wieland, Matthew M., 2009. Publicly traded versus privately
held: implications for conditional conservatism in bank accounting. Review of Accounting Studies,
14 (1), 88–122. doi:10.1007/s11142-008-9082-3.

Niemi, Lasse, Kinnunen, Juha, Ojala, Hannu, and Troberg, Pontus, 2012. Drivers of voluntary audit in
Finland: to be or not to be audited? Accounting and Business Research, 42 (2), 169–196. doi:10.
1080/00014788.2012.653742.

Niemi, Lasse, and Sundgren, Stefan, 2012. Are modified audit opinions related to the availability of credit?
Evidence from Finnish SMEs. European Accounting Review, 21 (4), 767–796. doi:10.1080/09638180.
2012.671465.

Ordelheide, D. ed., 2000. Transnational Accounting: 3 Volume Set. 2nd ed. Palgrave Macmillan. https://
www.palgrave.com/gp/book/9780333710203.

Pagano, Marco, Panetta, Fabio, and Zingales, Luigi, 1998. Why do companies go public? An empirical
analysis. The Journal of Finance, 53 (1), 27–64. doi:10.1111/0022-1082.25448.

Peek, Erik, Cuijpers, Rick, and Buijink, Willem, 2010. Creditors’ and shareholders’ reporting demands in
public versus private firms: evidence from Europe*: Creditors’ and shareholders’ reporting demands.
Contemporary Accounting Research, 27 (1), 49–91. doi:10.1111/j.1911-3846.2010.01001.x.

Accounting and Business Research 41

https://doi.org/10.1506/7T5B-72FV-MHJV-E697
https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3327502
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2012.661938
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2012.661938
https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2977888
https://doi.org/10.1506/K2CG-U6V0-NPTC-EQBK
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2012.06.002
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2012.06.002
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr-10098
https://doi.org/10.2308/atax-50618
https://doi.org/10.2308/atax-50618
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12306
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12165
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2017.05.001
https://doi.org/10.1111/1911-3846.12148
https://doi.org/10.2308/jata.2001.23.1.1
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-679X.2011.00411.x
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2017.1303962
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12127
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-679X.12127
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-008-9082-3
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2012.653742
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2012.653742
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2012.671465
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2012.671465
https://www.palgrave.com/gp/book/9780333710203
https://www.palgrave.com/gp/book/9780333710203
https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.25448
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1911-3846.2010.01001.x


Peel, Michael J., 2018. The impact of filing micro-entity accounts and the disclosure of reporting accoun-
tants on credit scores: an exploratory study. Accounting and Business Research, 1–34. doi:10.1080/
00014788.2018.1493374.

Penno, Mark, and Simon, Daniel T., 1986. Accounting choices: public versus private firms. Journal of
Business Finance & Accounting, 13 (4), 561–569. doi:10.1111/j.1468-5957.1986.tb00518.x.

Pierk, Jochen, 2018. IPOs and IFRS in European exchange-regulated markets: a research note. Journal of
Accounting and Public Policy, 37 (5), 477–485. doi:10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2018.09.005.

Pierk, Jochen, and Weil, Matthias, 2016. Price regulation and accounting choice. Journal of Accounting and
Public Policy, Special Issue on Accounting Regulation and Politics, 35 (3), 256–275. doi:10.1016/j.
jaccpubpol.2015.12.005.

Pietra, Roberto Di, 2017. The role and current status of IFRS in the completion of national accounting rules
– evidence from Italy. Accounting in Europe, 14 (1–2), 121–130. doi:10.1080/17449480.2017.
1302593.

Raak, Jeroen van, Peek, Erik, Meuwissen, Roger, and Schelleman, Caren, 2020. The effect of audit market
structure on audit quality and audit pricing in the private-client market. Journal of Business Finance &
Accounting, 47 (3–4), 456–488. doi:10.1111/jbfa.12414.

Sandino, Tatiana, 2007. Introducing the first management control systems: evidence from the retail sector.
The Accounting Review, 82 (1), 265–293. doi:10.2308/accr.2007.82.1.265.

Shroff, Nemit, Verdi, Rodrigo S., and Yost, Benjamin P., 2017. When does the peer information environment
matter? Journal of Accounting and Economics, 64 (2), 183–214. doi:10.1016/j.jacceco.2017.03.005.

Shuto, Akinobu, and Iwasaki, Takuya, 2015. The effect of institutional factors on discontinuities in earnings
distribution: public versus private firms in Japan. Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 30 (3),
283–317. doi:10.1177/0148558X14544504.

Sletten, Ewa, Ertimur, Yonca, Sunder, Jayanthi, and Weber, Joseph, 2018. When and why do IPO firms
manage earnings? Review of Accounting Studies, 23 (3), 872–906. doi:10.1007/s11142-018-9445-3.

Sundgren, Stefan, and Svanström, Tobias, 2013. Audit office size, audit quality and audit pricing: evidence
from small- and medium-sized enterprises. Accounting and Business Research, 43 (1), 31–55. doi:10.
1080/00014788.2012.691710.

Svanström, Tobias, 2013. Non-audit services and audit quality: evidence from private firms. European
Accounting Review, 22 (2), 337–366. doi:10.1080/09638180.2012.706398.

Szczesny, Andrea, and Valentincic, Aljosa, 2013. Asset write-offs in private firms – the case of German
SMEs. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 40 (3–4), 285–317. doi:10.1111/jbfa.12017.

Teoh, Siew Hong,Welch, Ivo, andWong, T. J., 1998. Earnings management and the long-run market perform-
ance of initial public offerings.The Journal of Finance, 53 (6), 1935–1974. doi:10.1111/0022-1082.00079.

U.S. Small Business Administration, 2018. 2018 small business profile. https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/
files/advocacy/2018-Small-Business-Profiles-US.pdf.

Van der Bauwhede, Heidi, and Willekens, Marleen, 2004. Evidence on (the lack of) audit-quality differen-
tiation in the private client segment of the Belgian audit market. European Accounting Review, 13 (3),
501–522. doi:10.1080/0963818042000237106.

Van Tendeloo, Brenda, and Vanstraelen, Ann, 2008. Earnings management and audit quality in Europe: evi-
dence from the private client segment market. European Accounting Review, 17 (3), 447–469. doi:10.
1080/09638180802016684.

Vanstraelen, Ann, and Schelleman, Caren, 2017. Auditing private companies: what do we know?
Accounting and Business Research, 47 (5), 565–584. doi:10.1080/00014788.2017.1314104.

Wangerin, Daniel, 2019. M&A due diligence, post-acquisition performance, and financial reporting for
business combinations. Contemporary Accounting Research, 36 (4), 2344–2378. doi:10.1111/1911-
3846.12520.

Yoo, Choong-Yuel, Choi, Tae Hee, and Pae, Jinhan, 2018. Demand for fair value accounting: the case of the
asset revaluation boom in Korea during the global financial crisis. Journal of Business Finance &
Accounting, 45 (1–2), 92–114. doi:10.1111/jbfa.12266.

42 C. Beuselinck et al.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2018.1493374
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2018.1493374
https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-5957.1986.tb00518.x
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2018.09.005
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2015.12.005
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaccpubpol.2015.12.005
https://doi.org/10.1080/17449480.2017.1302593
https://doi.org/10.1080/17449480.2017.1302593
https://doi.org/10.1111/jbfa.12414
https://doi.org/10.2308/accr.2007.82.1.265
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacceco.2017.03.005
https://doi.org/10.1177/0148558X14544504
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11142-018-9445-3
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2012.691710
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2012.691710
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180.2012.706398
https://doi.org/10.1111/jbfa.12017
https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-1082.00079
https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/2018-Small-Business-Profiles-US.pdf
https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/advocacy/2018-Small-Business-Profiles-US.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1080/0963818042000237106
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180802016684
https://doi.org/10.1080/09638180802016684
https://doi.org/10.1080/00014788.2017.1314104
https://doi.org/10.1111/1911-3846.12520
https://doi.org/10.1111/1911-3846.12520
https://doi.org/10.1111/jbfa.12266


Appendix 1. Aggregation of financial statement items (Volkswagen AG 2018)

Panel A: Assets in mil EUR

Federal Gazette Orbis & Amadeus Orbis Amadeus Dafne*

Intangible assets 64,613 Intangible fixed assets 64,613 64,613 Intangible assets 64,613
Property, plant and equipment 57,630 Tangible fixed assets 57,630 101,175 Self-generated property rights 22,410
Lease assets 43,545 Other fixed assets 152,377 10,404 Goodwill 40,200
Investment property 496 Other intangible assets 2003
Equity-accounted investments 8434 Property, plant, and equipment 101,175
Other equity investments 1474 Property 19,924
Financial services receivables 78,692 Machines 12,613
Other financial assets 6521 Equipment 16,505
Other receivables 2608 Advanced payments 8274
Tax receivables 476 Other PPE 43,859
Deferred tax assets 10,131 Financial assets 10,404

Shares 9908
Real estate properties (IAS 40) 496

Noncurrent assets 274,620 Fixed Assets 274,620 176,192 Fixed Assets 176,192
Inventories 45,745 Stock 45,745 45,745 Inventory 45,745
Trade receivables 17,888 Debtors 17,888 17,888 Raw materials 5543
Financial services receivables 54,216 Other current assets 119,903 218,331 Unfinished goods 4382
Other financial assets 11,586 Cash & cash equivalent 46,018 28,938 Finished goods 30,553
Other receivables 6,203 Other inventory 5099
Tax receivables 1,879 Advanced payments 168
Marketable securities 17,080 Receivables 180,070
Cash, cash equivalents and time deposits 28,938 Trade receivables 17,888
Assets held for sale 0 Other receivables 162,182

Marketable securities 17,080
Cash and cash equivalents 28,938

Current assets 183,536 Current assets 183,536 281,964 Current assets 271,833

Deferred assets 10,131
Total assets 458,156 Total assets 458,156 458,156 Total assets 458,156

*Translated from German.
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Panel B: Equity and Liabilities in mil EUR

Federal Gazette Orbis & Amadeus Orbis Amadeus Dafne*

Subscribed capital 1283 Capital 1283 1283 Share capital 1283
Capital reserve 14,551 Other shareholders funds 116,059 116,059 Participation rights 12,596
Retained earnings1 91,105 Capital reserve 14,551
Other reserves1 −2417 Net income 91,105
Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG hybrid

capital investors
12,596 Minority shares 224

Equity attributable to Volkswagen AG
shareholders and hybrid capital investors

117,117 Other income −2417

Noncontrolling interests 225
Equity 117,342 Shareholders funds 117,342 117,342 Equity 117,342
Financial liabilities 101,126 Long term debt 101,126 142,682 Provisions for pensions 33,097
Other financial liabilities 3219 Other non-current liabilities 71,720 87,339 Provisions for taxes 4459
Other liabilities 6448 Provisions 53,976 82,309 Other provisions 44,753
Deferred tax liabilities 5030 Provisions 82,309
Provisions for pensions 33,097 Bonds 81,548
Provisions for taxes 3047 Loans 33,902
Other provisions 20,879 Prepayments 11,235
Noncurrent liabilities 172,846 Non-current liabilities 172,846 230,021 Trade payables 23,607
Put options and compensation rights granted to

noncontrolling interest shareholders
1853 Loans 48,193 37,587 Liabilities to shareholders 1853

Financial liabilities 89,757 Creditors 23,607 23,607 Other liabilities 101,330
Trade payables 23,607 Other current liabilities 96,168 49,599 Liabilities 253,475
Tax payables 456 Deferred taxes 5030
Other financial liabilities 9416
Other liabilities 17,593
Provisions for taxes 1412
Other provisions 23,874
Current liabilities 167,968 Current liabilities 167,968 110,793

Total equity and liabilities 458,156 Total shareholders’ funds & liabilities 458,156 458,156 Total equity and liabilities 458,156

*Translated from German.
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Panel C: Income Statement

Federal Gazette Orbis & Amadeus Orbis Amadeus Dafne*

Operating revenue (Turnover) 243,725 247,480
Sales revenue 235,849 Sales 235,849 235,849 Sales 235,849
Cost of sales −189,500 Costs of goods sold 167,806 189,500 Costs of goods sold 189,500
Gross result 46,350 Gross profit 75,919 57,980 Gross profit 46,349
Distribution expenses −20,510 Other operating expenses 61,937 44,060 Distribution expenses 20,510
Administrative expenses −8819 Administrative expenses 8819
Other operating income 11,631 Other operating income 11,631
Other operating expenses −14,731 Other operating expenses 14,731
Operating result 13,920 Operating P/L [ = EBIT] 13,982 13,920 Operating result 13,920
Share of the result of equity-accounted

investments
3369 Financial revenue 950 2701 Interest income 2277

Interest income 967 Financial expenses −711 1574 Interest expenses −1150
Interest expenses −1547
Other financial result −1066
Financial result 1723 Financial P/L 1661 1127 Financial result 1127
Earnings before tax 15,643 P/L before tax 15,643 15,047 P/L before tax 15,047
Income tax income/expense −3489 Taxation 3490 3489 Income tax income/expense 3489
Current −3533 Deferred −44
Deferred 43 Current 3533
Earnings after tax 12,153 P/L after tax 12,153 11,558

Extr. and other P/L −1328 Profit transfers (Subsidiaries) 326
P/L for period [ = Net income] 10,825 11,558 Net income 11,884

Other comprehensive income, net of tax −2701
Total comprehensive income 9452

*Translated from German.

A
ccounting

and
B
usiness

R
esearch

45


	Abstract
	1. Introduction
	2. Private firm financial reporting in Europe: institutions and data
	2.1. The European regulatory reporting environment
	2.1.1. Reporting requirements
	2.1.2. IFRS vs. local GAAP

	2.2. Data availability
	2.2.1. Local business registers
	2.2.2. Commercial data providers
	2.2.3. Important data features
	2.2.3.1. Parent companies, subsidiaries, and stand-alone firms
	2.2.3.2. Data aggregation
	2.2.3.3. Time-invariant data items
	2.2.3.4. Data coverage

	2.2.4. Non-EU data

	2.3. Research perspectives

	3. State of the literature and research avenues
	3.1. Methodology
	3.2. Private firms: specific research questions
	3.2.1. Legal form choice
	3.2.2. Reporting in startup firms
	3.2.3. Private equity financing and financial reporting
	3.2.4. Initial public offerings and earnings properties
	3.2.5. Value relevance of private firm’s financials
	3.2.6. IFRS for SMEs
	3.2.7. Research perspectives

	3.3. Private versus public firms
	3.3.1. Financial reporting characteristics and accounting quality
	3.3.1.1. Earnings quality
	3.3.1.2. Conservatism
	3.3.1.3. Other aspects of financial reporting

	3.3.2. Audit
	3.3.3. Tax
	3.3.4. Research perspectives

	3.4. Private firms: general research questions
	3.4.1. Disclosure of financial statements
	3.4.2. Financial reporting characteristics and accounting quality
	3.4.2.1. Earnings quality
	3.4.2.2. Conservatism and write-offs

	3.4.3. Audit
	3.4.3.1. Demand for voluntary audit engagements
	3.4.3.2. Benefits of voluntary audit engagements
	3.4.3.3. Auditor characteristics and auditor choice
	3.4.3.4. Auditor independence
	3.4.3.5. Other audit papers

	3.4.4. IFRS adoption
	3.4.4.1. Voluntary IFRS adoption
	3.4.4.2. Consequences of voluntary IFRS adoption

	3.4.5. Financial reporting and lending decisions
	3.4.6. Other studies
	3.4.7. Research perspectives


	4. Conclusion
	Acknowledgements
	Data availability
	Disclosure statement
	Supplemental data
	ORCID
	References
	Appendix 1. Aggregation of financial statement items (Volkswagen AG 2018)


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /PageByPage
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile ()
  /CalRGBProfile (Adobe RGB \0501998\051)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.3
  /CompressObjects /Off
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /sRGB
  /DoThumbnails true
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 524288
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments false
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings false
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Remove
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages false
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.90
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages false
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.90
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.40
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Average
  /MonoImageResolution 300
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /Description <<
    /ENU ()
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [595.245 841.846]
>> setpagedevice


